



TECHNICAL SERIES NUMBER 2019 - 3



National Longitudinal Study of Children

COHORT '08 (INFANT COHORT)

Design, Instrumentation and Procedures (including Summary Literature Review, Pilot Report and Findings) for Cohort '08 at Wave Four (7/8 years)



## Growing Up in Ireland

National Longitudinal Study of Children

#### Design, Instrumentation and Procedures (including Summary Literature Review, Pilot Report and Findings) for Cohort '08 at Wave Four (7/8 years)

#### Eoin McNamara, Aisling Murray, James Williams

Name	Title	Institution
Eoin McNamara	Research Analyst	ESRI
Aisling Murray	Senior Research Officer	ESRI
James Williams	Research Professor	ESRI (Alumnus) and TCD (Adjunct)

The views expressed in this report are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the funders or of either of the two institutions involved in preparing the report.





An Roinn Leanaí agus Gnóthaí Óige Department of Children and Youth Affairs





Copyright © Minister for Children and Youth Affairs, August 2019

Department of Children and Youth Affairs Block 1 Miesian Plaza 50-58 Baggot Street Lower Dublin 2 D02 XW14 Tel: +353 (0)1 647 3000 E-mail: <u>contact@dcya.ie</u> Web: <u>www.dcya.gov.ie</u>

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without the prior permission in writing of the copyright holder.

For rights of translation or reproduction, applications should be made to the Head of Communications, Department of Children and Youth Affairs, Block 1, Miesian Plaza, 50-58 Baggot Street Lower, Dublin 2, D02 XW14, Ireland.



#### **Table of Contents**

LIST	OF APPENDICES	5
LIST	OF TABLES	5
LIST	OF FIGURES	5
1 II	NTRODUCTION	8
1.1	Introduction	
1.2	About the Growing Up in Ireland data collection at age 7/8	
1.3	Summary of the Conceptual Framework and its relevance at 7/8 years	9
1.4	Being 7/8 years old	11
2 19	SSUES FROM THE LITERATURE	14
2.1	Family Structure and Socio-economic Status	14
2.1.1	Family Structure and Socio-Emotional Well-being	14
2.1.2	2 Socio-Economic Status and Child Development	17
2.2	Child Health	18
2.2.1	The Link between Chronic Illness on Academic Achievement	18
2.2.2	2 Trends in Overweight & Obesity and 'Adiposity Rebound'	20
2.2.3	3 Diet and Health, including Mental Health, Outcomes at 7/8 Years	23
2.3	School and Education	25
2.3.1	Settling into Primary School	25
2.3.2	2 Childcare	26
2.4	Activities and Socio-Emotional Development	27
2.4.1	1 The Association between Screen Time and Health	27
2.4.2	2 The Benefits of Playing	29
2.5	Summary	31
3 0	<b>VERVIEW OF SAMPLE DESIGN, ATTRITION AND RE-WEIGHT</b>	ING 34
<b>3.1</b>	Sample Design	<b>34</b>
3.1.2	2 Sample Design at Wave 4	34
3.2	Response Rates	34
3.3	Attrition	35



3.4	Process for reweighting the data	37
4	OVERVIEW OF INSTRUMENTATION AND PROCEDURES	40
4.1	Development and Piloting	40
4.1	.1 Initial Development	40
4.1	2 Piloting the Instrument	40
4.1	3 Ethical considerations	41
4.2	Questionnaire and Procedures for the Main Phase	41
4.2	2.1 Outline of questionnaire and procedure	41
4.2	2.2 Detailed content	42
4.2	2.3 Procedures	45
5	OVERVIEW OF FINDINGS AND CONCLUSION	48
REF	ERENCES	53



#### LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Cronbach's alphas achieved for the scales used in Wave 4Appendix 2: Frequency DistributionsAppendix 3: 7/8 Year Postal Questionnaire for Primary Caregiver

#### LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 3.1 RESPONSE PATTERNS OF PARTICIPANTS IN THE $7/8$ -year postal survey across the four waves of Cohe	ORT
'08, 9 MONTHS TO 7/8 YEARS OF AGE	35
TABLE 3.2 COMPARING THE FULL SAMPLE AND THE COMPLETED WAVE 4 SAMPLE IN TERMS OF CHARACTERISTICS OF	
RESPONDENTS (AS MEASURED AT WAVE 1)	37
TABLE 4.1 HOUSEHOLD-BASED INSTRUMENTS USED AT WAVE 4	42

#### LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE 1.1 THE BIO-ECOLOGICAL MODEL	10
FIGURE 2.1 CENTERS FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION BMI-FOR-AGE PERCENTILE CURVE SHOWING 'ADIPO	SITY
REBOUND' AT 3-6 YEARS	22
FIGURE 5.1 INFOGRAPHIC - THE FAMILIES OF 7/8-YEAR-OLDS	49
FIGURE 5.2 INFOGRAPHIC - THE HEALTH AND PHYSICAL DEVELOPMENT OF 7/8-YEAR-OLDS	50
FIGURE 5.3 INFOGRAPHIC ON THE LEARNING AND SCHOOL EXPERIENCES OF 7/8-YEAR-OLDS	51
FIGURE 5.4 INFOGRAPHIC - THE SOCIAL AND EMOTIONAL WELL-BEING OF 7/8-YEAR-OLDS	52





## Chapter 1

## INTRODUCTION





#### 1 INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 INTRODUCTION

**Growing Up in Ireland** is the National Longitudinal Study of Children in Ireland. It is funded by the Department of Children and Youth Affairs (DCYA)<sup>1</sup> with a principal aim of providing evidence to inform government policy on matters affecting children, young people and their families. The study is managed by the DCYA in conjunction with the Central Statistics Office and overseen by an interdepartmental governance structure. It is conducted by a team of researchers based at the Economic and Social Research Institute, Dublin and Trinity College Dublin.

This report summarises the methodological issues involved in data collection from Cohort '08 (formerly called the 'Infant' Cohort) of *Growing Up in Ireland* when the study children were 7/8 years old in 2016. In contrast to the longer in-home interviews with this cohort at ages 9 months, 3 years, 5 years and 9 years, the data collection from this cohort at age 7/8 years involved a short postal questionnaire. Three Key Findings reports from this wave were published in 2017 dealing with the children's education, health and socio-emotional development (*Growing Up in Ireland* Study Team, 2017a, b and c). This report provides an overview of the literature relevant to this stage of children's lives, describes the design of the survey for the cohort at 7/8 years, outlines the experience of the pilot and provides a brief summary of some of the main findings. This information will be of interest to others who conduct more in-depth analysis on these data in the future.

#### 1.2 ABOUT THE GROWING UP IN IRELAND DATA COLLECTION AT AGE 7/8

The 7/8-year-olds who are the focus of this report were born in 2007/08. They are members of Cohort '08 of *Growing Up in Ireland*<sup>2</sup> and were recruited for the first wave when they were 9 months old; there were over 11,000 children at Wave 1. Being a longitudinal study, the same children (with their caregivers) were revisited at 3 years old (n=9,793) and again at age 5 years (n=9,001). Data collection in the first three waves involved a household visit by an interviewer to conduct an in-depth, face-to-face interview.

The fourth data collection wave, at age 7/8 years, involved a short postal questionnaire in contrast to the face-to-face interviews of earlier waves. This methodology allowed for a brief follow-up with the families between the visit at age 5 and the next major interview wave planned for when the children were 9 years old. The questionnaire at this 7/8 year wave concentrated on selected issues key to the child's well-being and development, namely: health, social skills, school-work, play activities and the parent-child relationship. As the questionnaire was self-completed and returned by post, only a minimum of information on the household structure was collected and none of the questions that would typically be included in the "sensitive" module during a household visit in previous waves of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> With a contribution from The Atlantic Philanthropies in Phase 2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> There is a second older cohort referred to as Cohort '98 (the 'Child Cohort') who are the subject of a separate series of reports and literature reviews.



the study were included. The questionnaires were issued between March and April 2016. It was sent in the first instance to the person recorded as the Primary Caregiver from the previous completed wave but could, if decided by the family, be completed and returned by a 'new' Primary Caregiver. Further details on the design and content of the questionnaire at 7/8 years are provided in Chapter 3.

### 1.3 SUMMARY OF THE CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK AND ITS RELEVANCE AT 7/8 YEARS

A detailed description and discussion of the conceptual framework underlying **Growing Up in Ireland** is available in a separate publication by Greene et al. (2010). In summary, the conceptual framework was driven largely by Bronfenbrenner's work on the bio-ecological model (e.g. 1979, 1993; Bronfenbrenner and Morris, 2006). As illustrated in Figure 1.1, the development of the individual (in this case the 7/8-year-old child) takes place in the context of a complex network involving not just the immediate context of family and school but also the wider community, and – for example - the cultural and economic contexts with which these core layers interact. This framework emphasises the importance of a multi-disciplinary study with multiple informants, where possible, to account for the different influences on individual development.

In the Bronfenbrenner framework, the child is at the centre and various levels of influence are described in terms of systems. The 'microsystem' is typically thought to be the most directly influential as it concerns those individuals and places with whom the child has most interactions, and who control much of the child's immediate learning environment, such as the family and school. At the age of 7/8 years, a child's life continues to be very much determined by their parents' decisions in relation to significant aspects of their lives, including schooling, diet, housing, and leisure pursuits. At the same time, the parent-child relationship is a key source of emotional support for the developing child. The school context is also very important to all areas of the child's development. Experiences in school have a major input to the child's cognitive development. School is also an environment where socio-emotional development is affected by interactions with peers and teachers, and the curriculum and school policies can impact on health and growth (e.g. through physical exercise classes).







Source: Adapted from Garbarino, 1982.

At the 'exosystem' level are elements such as the local neighbourhood. Factors such as the availability of green space and sports facilities and the availability of produce in local shops could influence the choices available to the child and family regarding activity and diet. Churches, parents' employers, and GP facilities are other examples of elements in the exosystem that may influence the child's development.

The 'macrosystem' is the layer with which the child may not interact directly, but which can still have important effects on his/her development. This system includes, for example, cultural norms on what is considered appropriate for 7/8-year-old children in terms of play activities or level of independence; and Government policies such as the amount payable as Child Benefit and the national school curriculum; and the health of the economy which in turn influences parental employment opportunities and the level of funds available for public services.

The 'mesosystem' relates to the interactions between the various systems or elements within a system. Relevant examples at age 7/8 years would be parental engagement with the child's school, such as whether the parent attends meetings with the teacher and is kept up to date on the child's academic progress; or family-friendly policies at the parent's workplace that allow them flexibility to work from home when the child is sick or needs to be collected from school. An interesting debate has arisen as to how the digital world should be located in the traditional structure of the Bronfenbrenner model (e.g. Johnson and Puplampu, 2008; Plowman, 2016). In one sense, given the amount of time children spend playing computer games, browsing the internet or watching TV - and the fact they mostly do this at home – it is almost a part of the microsystem. On the other hand, given that the content is mostly designed by people who are very distant from the child, both geographically



and in terms of their relationship to the child (and the interactions are mostly not personalised to the individual), perhaps it is better placed in the macrosystem.

Bronfenbrenner's bio-ecological model also acknowledges the importance of a child's individual characteristics and his/her capacity to be an active agent in interactions with the various systems. A 7/8-year-old who has a long-term condition that results in periods of ill-health may find that their attendance at school and opportunity for play are limited. A child who has an easy-going, friendly disposition might have more positive social interactions with peers, siblings and significant adults. A child's gender may affect what play and sports opportunities are encouraged by peers and adults, and so on. The child by 7/8 years also has increased capacity to exercise choice over whom they play with, what they do in their free-time and the effort they put into school-work.

Finally, time is acknowledged as an important part of the developmental context, reflected in the chronosystem. One aspect of this involves 'period effects' such as being 7/8 years in 2016 - at a time when the Irish economy was just starting to recover from a significant recession and what that means for the availability of services, parental financial stress etc. Another is the timing of events in the life of the individual such as the birth of a new sibling, moving to a new school or the departure of a parental figure from the home. The effect on the child of potentially stressful events may be moderated by the relative maturity of the child, how significant others (such as parents) support them through changes and whether the change ultimately results in an improvement or worsening in the child's everyday life.

#### 1.4 BEING 7/8 YEARS OLD

By 7/8 years, children typically show a greater level of maturity and independence than previously. Relationships outside the immediate family such as those with friends or school-mates are likely to increase in importance. These changes may parallel an increased involvement with organised extracurricular activities such as team sports, Irish dancing, and scouts/brownies. For example, Scouting Ireland accepts members from the age of 6 years, and the Gaelic Athletic Association (GAA) has competition rules for 'under 7' and 'under 9' matches. Children aged 7/8 years have typically developed their motor and co-ordination skills to a point where participation in organised sports and other competitions becomes more realistic for the majority of children.

In terms of school, children in this age group would typically have finished the 'Infants' cycle of primary school and now be in First or Second class with a more advanced curriculum, often a longer schoolday and regular homework (depending on school policy). Irish guidelines for length of a school day at primary level are 5 hours and 40 minutes (Department of Education and Skills, 2014). Many Irish school children are expected to wear uniforms as prescribed by individual schools (ibid). For many children growing up in Ireland in the Catholic religion (82% of children aged 5-9),<sup>3</sup> the ceremony known as 'First Holy Communion' is a major rite of passage that occurs around the age of 7/8 years. Most children to whom this event applies will devote a considerable amount of time, both inside and outside school, to religious preparation for this day.<sup>4</sup> The day is typically marked not just by a major religious ceremony but also a party for extended family and friends, and the receipt of gifts by the child. According to a recent survey, children received an average of  $\xi$ 570 in gifts for their First Holy Communion and the average overall spent by parents on the event was  $\xi$ 845.<sup>5</sup>

In terms of health, while it was expected that most children would be in good health, there may be an increase in the extent to which longstanding physical and mental health or behavioural issues are diagnosed once the children have started school. This may be because their grouping with other children of the same age lends itself to the identification of children whose physical or emotional development is progressing at a different pace. A paper on the identification of special educational needs (SEN), using *Growing Up in Ireland* data from Cohort '98 at age 9 years, noted that children attending the most socio-economically disadvantaged schools (in Ireland those designated as 'Urban Band 1 DEIS schools') were more likely to be identified as having emotional/behavioural difficulties (EBD) even after taking account of the socio-economic characteristics of the children attending these schools (Banks, McCoy & Shevlin, 2013).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> From Central Statistics Office, Tables from Census 2016 *E8055: Population 2011 to 2016 by Sex, County and City, Age Group, Religion and CensusYear.* [accessed from <u>www.cso.ie</u> on 12/03/2019]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> While the Department of Education and Skills does not collect specific information on the time spent on First Communion preparation during school hours, in 2017 the announcement by the Education and Training Board – a State organisation responsible for the running of a small number of primary schools – that preparation for such sacraments would no longer take place during the school day was covered by the national media (e.g. Katherine Donnelly, Irish Independent, 22nd September 2017).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> 2017 Ulster Bank Communion Survey as reported by Gareth Morgan in the Irish Independent, June 26 2017.



# Chapter 2

## ISSUES FROM THE LITERATURE





#### 2 ISSUES FROM THE LITERATURE

As the questionnaire used in the 7/8-year round of interviewing was self-completed and returned on a postal basis, there were clear constraints on its length and content. One aspect of questionnaire development involved a review of the literature to ensure that the most important research topics relevant to children of this age were included. Major research themes were identified in each of the study's main outcome domains of physical activity, education, and socio-emotional well-being and behaviour. Each of these areas has been central to the project since its inception. Some key socio-demographic characteristics of the child's family and Primary Caregiver were also recorded, to facilitate analysis of trends and variation in child outcomes. The key research topics which were identified from the literature (and from consultation with experts in the field) are considered briefly below. These specific topics are chosen here because of their particular relevance to the transition from early to middle childhood or because they have not been covered in depth in the literature review for Cohort '08 at 5 years old.

#### 2.1 FAMILY STRUCTURE AND SOCIO-ECONOMIC STATUS

#### 2.1.1 Family Structure and Socio-Emotional Well-being

The association between family structure and family economic circumstances has been well established. Watson et al. (2012), drawing on the Survey of Income and Living Conditions for Ireland, note that oneparent families face a higher risk of poverty and deprivation than two-parent families. Although household poverty and deprivation do not necessarily translate directly into the children lacking childspecific goods and services, the rates of child-specific deprivation were also higher for children in oneparent families. About 28 per cent of children in one-parent families lacked at least one child-specific item compared to eight per cent of children living with two parents (Watson et al., 2012).

Changes to the structure of a family, such as parental separation or the birth of a new baby, have the potential to trigger significant and enduring changes in a child's socio-emotional well-being and development. These changes can be experienced in terms of family dynamics and the re-organisation of resources, and although the effect of these changes may sometimes be negative, they are not universally so (Hadfield et al., 2018).

In Cohort '08 of *Growing Up in Ireland*, family structure at the aggregate level did not change significantly between the first and second waves of interviews (GUI Study Team, 2011). At Wave 2 (3 years), 7% of families had one parent and one child, 8% had one parent and two or more children, 15% had two parents and one child, and 70% had two parents and two or more children. There was, however, change at the individual level. The most common difference to family structure at Wave 2 was the arrival of a new sibling into the family (33% of all families), but this was more common for two-parent than one-parent families (35% versus 18%). New births were also more frequent among families classed as professional/managerial (40%).

The proportion of one- and two-parent families was generally unchanged at Wave 3 (5 years of age): about 14% of children were growing up in one-parent families at 9 months, 3 years and 5 years old (Murray et al., 2019). Although the overall proportions of one- and two-parent families were fairly constant across waves, 4% of children had changed from a one- to a two-parent family, while another 4% had moved in the opposite direction. At 5 years of age, one-parent families were the most socially disadvantaged in terms of household income and maternal education (Murray et al., 2019).

An analysis of the relationship between family structure and emotional and behavioural outcomes in *Growing Up in Ireland* Cohort '98 at 9 years of age was conducted by Lafferty (2012), looking at differences between children in married and unmarried families. Children from married families were less likely to experience deprivation, maternal depression or stressful life events, and also performed significantly better in terms of socio-emotional and behavioural outcomes (as measured by the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire, SDQ; Goodman, 1997).

Extending this analysis by using data collected at the second wave of the Cohort '98 study, Nixon and Swords (2016) reported that at 13 years of age, the socio-emotional and behavioural development of children from one-parent families was again more likely to be classified as 'potentially problematic' on the SDQ scale. Similarly, children from one-parent families scored lower than children from two-parent families on tests of verbal and numerical ability. Two separate tests were used to measure how 13 year olds felt about themselves: the Short Mood and Feelings Questionnaire (which screens for depressive symptoms), and the Piers-Harris Scale, which measures self-perception. On both tests, children from one-parent families performed more poorly than their two-parent peers, displaying an increased risk of depression and poor self-perception.

Fahey et al. (2012), also using *Growing Up in Ireland* data, looked at differences in child development outcomes of 9-year-olds in Cohort '98 based on family structure. The authors found that children from married, two-parent families were less likely to have socio-emotional concerns (based on the SDQ), poor school performance (reading and maths) and chronic illness, when compared to unmarried or one-parent families. Only-children were also more likely than children with siblings to have socio-emotional concerns or suffer from chronic illness, but this association should not be assumed to reflect a cause-and-effect relationship. While not having siblings might have an impact on children's socio-emotional development, other factors linked to an increased risk of socio-emotional or behavioural problems (such as financial stress) may also have an impact on the decision of parents to increase their family size.

Waldfogel et al. (2010) highlighted five potential pathways through which family structure may influence child outcomes:

• parental resources: single mothers face an increased risk of economic disadvantage; as a result, they may be unable to afford as much time with their child as they would ideally like

- parental mental health: single or cohabiting mothers are at increased risk of depression, which could compromise their ability to parent at an optimal level
- parental relationship quality: parental divorce or separation can be a very traumatic event for a child, and may affect parenting quality too (although parental conflict is potentially worse for the child)
- parenting quality: children fare better when parents are warm and nurturing, compared with punitive or neglectful, and the quality of parenting may be affected by the above factors (reduced resources; parent mental health and conflict between parents)
- father involvement: particularly relevant where the father does not live in the home, increased involvement could be beneficial to child outcomes.

The authors noted that family instability was closely related to cognitive and health outcomes, while family structure (number of parents, regardless of stability) was more closely linked to child behaviour. In general, their results suggest that children in stable one-parent or cohabiting-parent families are at less risk than those in unstable one-parent or cohabiting-parent families (Waldfogel et al, 2010).

It might not be family structure per se that is linked to unfavourable outcomes, however, but correlates of different family structures. Analysing data from the *Growing Up in Ireland* Cohort '98 at 9 years old, Lafferty (2012) found that factors such as economic deprivation, maternal depression and stressful life events may be more important than family structure in influencing developmental outcomes at 9 years of age. In a similar vein, Hannan and Halpin (2014), analysing the same cohort, argue that it is not being a one-parent family in itself but the other characteristics of lone parents, such as lower levels of education that account for many of the unfavourable associations with child outcomes such as educational development, health and self-concept.

**Potential for GUI:** Through the fourth wave of data collection at 7/8 years of age, the current structure of the family, as well as changes therein since 9 months of age, can be observed. The association between change (or stability) and other family characteristics (like parental educational/economic status and parent-child relationships), as well a range of child development outcomes, can potentially be investigated. In particular, outcomes at age 7/8 years can be compared on a longitudinal basis, building on information collected at previous waves on family transitions and its relationship to outcomes. Further, outcomes at later ages can be assessed in the light of indicators of family structure and changes in family structure early in childhood: previous research using GUI data on outcomes at ages 9 and 13 did not have access to information on family circumstances at age 7/8 (Lafferty 2012; Nixon and Swords, 2016). Even if the processes underlying these associations are not fully understood, the associations can be useful in identifying families where further supports are needed.



#### 2.1.2 Socio-Economic Status and Child Development

Extensive evidence suggests that children who grow up in adverse economic or financial circumstances can face immediate as well as enduring risk of negative wellbeing and developmental outcomes. In a systematic review of 34 studies (mainly from the US), Cooper and Stewart (2013 and 2017) concluded that children from lower-income households have less favourable outcomes across several domains (cognitive, social/behavioural and health), at least partly because they are poorer and not just because low income is associated with other characteristics of the family. In addition, increases in income towards the bottom of the income distribution had the strongest beneficial effects on child outcomes.

It is particularly important to consider the economic circumstances of *Growing Up in Ireland* Study Children in the aftermath of sustained economic recession, where the financial difficulties and resultant effects experienced by their families can be both pervasive and persistent.

Based on Cohort '08 of *Growing Up in Ireland* at 3 years of age, just over half of mothers were at work outside the home, while 6% said they were unemployed (GUI Study Team, 2011). Employment was significantly higher among better-educated mothers (72% of degree-level mothers vs. 25% who had left school with lower secondary education or less). Further to this, 44% of 3-year-olds whose mother had left school at the earliest stage (Junior Certificate or less) were in the lowest income quintile and only 1% were in the top quintile. One fifth of families (21%) made ends meet 'with great difficulty' or 'with difficulty', and families who were most disadvantaged in terms of income, social class or education were most likely to report that the recession had had a very significant effect on them. These recession effects were experienced in terms of a reduction in wages or social welfare and an inability to afford luxuries or, in many cases, basics.

Reflecting trends in the recession which Ireland faced over the period, by five years of age, 67% of study children were in families experiencing some level of difficulty in making ends meet, compared with 62% when they were 3 years old and 43% when they were nine months. Just over 55% of one-parent families' experienced financial stress at all three time periods compared to 29% of two-parent families (GUI Study Team, 2013c).

A report on the influence of family factors on child outcomes in Cohort '98 at 9 years of age found that family income was associated with child behavioural and developmental outcomes being in the problematic range (typically the top ten per cent of scores on the SDQ scale; Nixon, 2012). In a separate study, Nolan & Layte (2014) investigated whether there was a socio-economic gradient for health outcomes (general health, chronic illness and BMI). Whilst they found little evidence of an association between socio-economic status (SES) and health outcomes at 9 months, they reported a number of significant associations by 9 years of age (in Cohort '98). Family income was negatively associated with a child's general health (children in low income families tended to have poorer general health) and mother's education (which was correlated with family income and social class) was linked to a child's BMI: children of highly-educated mothers were less likely to be overweight or obese.

Quigley and Nixon (2016) investigated the association between socio-economic status (as indicated by family income and maternal education) on a number of child development outcomes at 9 and 13 years of age in Cohort '98 of *Growing Up in Ireland*. Using a test of verbal reasoning (the Drumcondra Verbal Reasoning Test), the authors observed a clear pattern in performance according to family income and maternal education. Children from families with a higher income or with mothers who had a higher level of education performed better in the verbal reasoning test than their peers from families in lower income groups or with mothers with lower levels of education.

The increased likelihood of a child experiencing deprivation-related stressors, including serious and/or chronic medical problems, parental psychological problems, marital discord and overcrowding in the home, may in part explain the association between a low socio-economic status and negative child health and development outcomes (Duncan, Brooks-Gunn & Klebanov, 1994). The combined influence of these stressors can elevate the risk for poor developmental outcomes (Sameroff, 2006). Socio-economic status may also affect children indirectly through its effect on parenting processes. Evidence suggests that socio-economic status can affect parenting beliefs (including how much control they have over child development/outcomes; Fong et al., 2018), parenting practices (low SES parents tend to be less authoritative; Teng et al., 2018), the developmental goals that parents hold for their children (Park & Lau, 2015), and the relationship between parents (Watson et al., 2014).

**Potential for GUI:** As at all previous waves of the study, family economic situation was again recorded when the Study Child was 7/8 years in terms of: difficulty in making ends meet; social welfare dependency; and changes in the financial position of the family compared to when the Study Child was 5 years old. Information was also recorded on mothers work status; whether she worked full or part-time, and how many hours she worked per week. This information, as well as longitudinal changes over the four waves to date, can be considered as part of the overall family context, and compared against outcomes related to child health, socio-emotional and academic development. The detailed information on family processes and parental physical and emotional well-being collected in other waves, analysed in conjunction with the socio-economic indicators, allow an investigation of the processes involved. There is also scope to further explore apparent resilience amongst children who were doing well at 7/8 years despite earlier or ongoing socio-economic adversity.

#### 2.2 CHILD HEALTH

#### 2.2.1 THE LINK BETWEEN CHRONIC ILLNESS ON ACADEMIC ACHIEVEMENT

Children with Special Educational Needs (SEN) often require specific services in order to achieve their potential in the educational system. Thus, the prevalence of longstanding health conditions and disabilities has important policy implications. The most recent report from Ireland's National Physical and Sensory Disability Database (Doyle et al., 2017) indicated that approximately 2,300 children aged 5-12 years have persistent disabilities that require specialised health or personal social service. The most

common disabilities at this age involve communication, the nervous system and intellectual development.

Looking specifically at Cohort '08 of *Growing Up in Ireland*, 16% of children were reported to have a longstanding health condition or disability at 3 years of age, increasing to 18% at 5 years of age. The most common of these were behavioural or learning-related conditions (ADHD, dyslexia) and respiratory conditions such as asthma (GUI Study Team, 2017b). At 5 years of age, 1.3% of all study children were reported by parents to be 'severely' hampered in their daily activities by a chronic illness, and a further 6% were 'somewhat' hampered.

Within *Growing Up in Ireland* Cohort '98 at 9 years of age, the presence of a longstanding mental or behavioural condition (as identified by the parent) was significantly and negatively related to reading and maths test performance (Layte & McCrory, 2013). Mental, behavioural and all other chronic conditions were also significantly associated with a higher mean SDQ score (suggesting increased behavioural or emotional difficulties).

Other research has examined the association between chronic illness or disability and educational experience and attainment. A recent systematic meta-review conducted by Lum et al. (2017) included 18 projects investigating the association between school experience and chronic illness. Many of the articles reported that chronic illness was negatively associated with school outcomes. However, in 14 of 16 articles, children with asthma achieved equal or better school outcomes than their peers without a chronic illness, condition or disability (Milton et al., 2004; Taras & Potts-Datema, 2005), suggesting that this association was very much illness-dependent. Significant associations were observed between poor academic outcomes and increasingly severe chronic illnesses, such as cancer.

The most prominent trend observed within the meta-review was an association between chronic illness and increased rates of absenteeism; although again, the strength of the relationship was associated with the severity of the illness, as well as frequent hospitalisation. Chronic illness was also associated with poorer school peer relationships, many students being teased or bullied about being different to peers, their body image and poor academic performance (Hokkanen et al., 2004). However, an increased eagerness to attend school was also reported amongst those with severe illnesses, as it provided them with a sense of returning to a regular routine (Bessell, 2001).

Students with chronic illnesses reported that, when made aware of their unique circumstances, schools and teachers were broadly supportive (Mitchell et al., 2006). This in turn led to improved engagement with and, where necessary, reintegration (after extended hospitalisation) into the school system. These positive experiences were usually aided by structured communication between the student/family, school and health professionals.

A more recent study drew on the *Growing Up in Ireland* data for Cohort '98 at 9 and at 13 years of age to examine the impact of parental expectations on student's achievement (Banks et al, 2016). The

authors found that even controlling for cognitive performance at age 9, parents of children with Special Educational Needs (SEN) were less likely to expect them to go on to Third Level education. In addition, parental expectations at age 9 were associated with young people's cognitive achievement at age 13, even controlling for SEN, achievement at age 9 and parental education. The results suggested that parental expectations may be an important mediating factor influencing academic self-concept and actual achievement of children with SEN. The results also confirmed the finding in the literature of differences according to the type of SEN: young people with general learning/intellectual and emotional/behavioural disabilities fared least well in terms of academic achievement at age 13.

**Potential for GUI:** Chronic illness, disease or disability can have a significant and lasting impact on the well-being of a child. Looking specifically at the overall school experience, children with chronic illnesses may have more difficulties in terms of academic achievement and the development of relationships with peers and teachers. Using information gathered from the 7/8 year data sweep, we can further investigate these issues both cross-sectionally and longitudinally within Cohort '08 of *Growing Up in Ireland*. For example, the update from parents on how the child was faring at school can be assessed in relation to the presence (or emergence) of chronic illnesses or longstanding conditions at age 7/8.

#### 2.2.2 TRENDS IN OVERWEIGHT & OBESITY AND 'ADIPOSITY REBOUND'

The association between obesity and poor health in childhood is widely established, with obese children at increased risk of type 2 diabetes, hypertension and raised blood cholesterol levels (Lobstein & Jackson-Leach, 2006). Levels of overweight and obesity amongst young people have risen significantly over the last four decades, with a two- to threefold increase observed in many developed countries (Wang & Lobstein, 2006; Shah, Hagell & Cheung, 2019). Combined rates of childhood overweight and obesity across developed countries currently stand between 20 and 35% and may continue to increase (NCD Risk Factor Collaboration, 2017).

A recently published international review and meta-analysis reported a plateau in childhood body mass index (BMI) levels in many high-income countries since the turn of the century (NCD Risk Factor Collaboration, 2017). The authors concluded, however, that in spite of this broad plateau, prevalence rates are still worryingly high, and remain significantly higher than they were in the 1970's.

Focussing specifically on Irish schoolchildren up to 14 years of age, Keane et al. (2014) investigated whether rates of overweight and obesity (including morbid obesity) were still rising in Ireland between 2002 and 2012 after decades of steady growth. Using data from 14 studies and over 35,000 children aged 4-13 years, the authors observed overall trends similar to those reported in the international review. Based on the national studies reviewed in the paper, between 2002 and 2012 there was no significant trend in the prevalence of being overweight but a slight decrease in the prevalence of obesity. The authors concluded that childhood overweight and obesity prevalence rates appear to be stabilising, but remain high in Ireland.



A report from Cohort '08 of *Growing Up in Ireland* at 5 years of age (GUI Study Team, 2013b) indicated that levels of overweight and obesity were 15% and 5%, respectively; similar figures to those reported by Keane et al. (2014). For the same cohort two years prior (at 3 years of age), overweight levels were slightly higher (19%) although obesity levels were the same (5%). Further, of those who were overweight at 3 years of age, 50% were overweight or obese at 5 years of age while a similar proportion were no longer overweight/obese. Of those who were obese at 3 years of age, 75% were overweight or obese at 5 years of age.

These findings from *Growing Up in Ireland* suggest that overweight and obesity can persist through childhood and adolescence, a theory supported by results from the Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children (ALSPAC; Wright et al., 2010). Measuring BMI from 7 to 11 years, the authors noted an increased prevalence in levels of overweight (rising from 11% to 18%) and obesity (from 3.3% to 4.6%) as the children got older. However, some researchers argue that there are significant factors in middle childhood predicting overweight/obesity in later adolescence and early adulthood. Rolland-Cachera et al. (1984) first proposed a theory that there exists a critical period of adipose tissue (fat) development in middle childhood, a phenomenon referred to as 'adiposity rebound'. Adiposity increases in the first year of life, but then tends to decrease until approximately 5-6 years of age. This nadir, just prior to a second increase in adiposity levels, is known as adiposity rebound. From this point onwards, adiposity (and BMI) levels increase gradually into early adulthood.

This rebound pattern can clearly be observed by looking at a child BMI-for-age chart (see Figure 2.1). The chart, from the US Centre for Disease Control in 2000, shows key percentiles of BMI at different ages of the child. In this chart, the 50th percentile curve represents the median BMI from ages 2 to 20 years. Following this curve, at 2 years, median BMI for a girl is 16.5. It decreases to approximately 15 at 5 years of age, whereupon adiposity rebound occurs and median BMI gradually increases to almost 22 by age 20 years.





Figure 2.1 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention BMI-for-age percentile curve showing 'adiposity rebound' at 3-6 years<sup>6</sup>

Rolland-Cachera (1984) and subsequent researchers (Ohlsson et al., 2012) believe that the specific age of adiposity rebound is an indicator of adult overweight and obesity; an early adiposity rebound increases the likelihood of adult obesity. However, Cole (2004) more recently argued that while age of adiposity rebound may predict later overweight/obesity, the association is statistical rather than physiological; BMI tends to carry along a curve, as illustrated in Figure 2.1.

Layte and McCrory (2011) investigated social class variations in levels of overweight and obesity in *Growing Up in Ireland* Cohort '98 at 9 years of age. They observed a clear gradient in terms of family social class, for both boys and girls. That is, children with parents in the Professional class category had substantially lower rates of overweight and obesity than children with parents in the Semi-skilled or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Reproduced from '2000 CDC Growth Charts for the United States: Methods and Development', available at <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/series/sr\_11/sr11\_246.pdf</u>

Unskilled group - a particular concern seeing that current differentials may contribute to a widening of adult inequalities in the years to come.

**Potential for GUI:** During the fourth wave of data collection with Cohort '08 (at 7/8 years), height and weight of the Study Child were reported by the Primary Caregiver and BMI values were calculated for all study children<sup>7</sup>. Analysing data at this potentially critical period in the child's life, in conjunction with BMI data recorded at 3 and 5 years of age, allows researchers to consider individual trends in adiposity amongst participants through childhood and potentially into adolescence. As indicated in the chart above, the adiposity rebound would begin to be evident at age 7/8. Characteristics of children who remain or become overweight and obese can be considered, including socio-economic inequalities; an avenue of particular policy relevance.

#### 2.2.3 DIET AND HEALTH, INCLUDING MENTAL HEALTH, OUTCOMES AT 7/8 YEARS

As stated in Section 2.2.3, an elevated prevalence of obesity constitutes a disquieting and increasing problem for children and adolescents in Ireland and beyond, primarily due to its association with a range of negative health outcomes (Lobstein & Jackson-Leach, 2006; Jackson-Leach & Lobstein, 2006). Along with physical activity, diet is widely accepted as one of the key modifiable factors in the prevention of obesity (WHO, 2003; Kipping et al., 2008). Whilst a poor diet can increase the risk of obesity and the subsequent risk of associated negative health outcomes, a poor diet is also independently associated with a number of health concerns themselves. Because it is something that can be modified, the links between diet and a range of health outcomes are of central concern to policy.

Many studies involving adult populations have reported a link between a high quality diet and positive mental health outcomes (Psaltopoulou et al., 2013). Focussing specifically on children, Baker et al. (2017) recently reviewed the effects of a hyper-caloric diet on emotional well-being. They found that a diet high in refined fat and/or sugar had a significant negative impact on brain function and emotional behaviour. These effects were particularly pronounced during sensitive stages of gestational, paediatric and childhood development, and often led to an increased risk for the onset of anxiety and associated mood disorders.

O'Neill et al. (2014), in a systematic review of epidemiological studies, found a similar association between dietary quality and mental health in children and adolescents.<sup>8</sup> The authors noted that there are a number of potential biological pathways explaining the observed association with dietary quality,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The reader should note that in previous rounds of the study (where interviewers conducted face-to-face interviews) the child's height and weight were measured by the interviewer on medically approved equipment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> In the studies reviewed here, and in Khalid et al. 2016 (discussed below), dietary quality was, in most cases, assessed by the reviewers based on self-reports of the frequency of consumption of different types of food.

including a link between certain nutrient deficiencies and both depression (folate, zinc, magnesium) and anxiety (omega-3 fatty acids).

Another review of the effects of diet on mental health outcomes used data from studies involving young people aged 3 to 18 years (Khalid et al., 2017). They reported a positive association between a high quality diet (including fruit, vegetables, cereals, grains and fish) and lower levels of depression. However, this association was only investigated and reported in three studies, limiting the authors' ability to establish causality. They did note that the association should be viewed cautiously, as both factors (diet and depression) may be affected by a third, confounding factor such as socioeconomic status. The authors also postulated that there may be an alternative causal pathway; poor mental health may promote unhealthy eating and not the other way around. However, longitudinal research suggests that this reverse causality is less likely to explain long-term associations (Le Port et al., 2012).

Across two studies, Jacka et al. have investigated the association between diet and mental health in child cohorts in both Australia (2010) and the UK (2013). Controlling for potential confounders such as socioeconomic status and family factors, they reported a dose-response association between diet quality and adolescent depression in the Australian cohort; children who consumed more processed and 'junk' foods were more likely to report depressive symptoms. For the UK cohort, an association between an unhealthy diet score (based on consumption of fast foods, snacks and biscuits high in saturated fats and sugars) and both depressive symptoms (using the Short Mood and Feelings Questionnaire) and psychological distress (using the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire) was observed. Again, the authors had adjusted for potential confounding factors, such as gender, ethnicity, religion, parental employment and eligibility for free school meals. In both studies, they concluded that current evidence suggests poor diet is a risk factor for negative mental health outcomes.

Calorie consumption was assessed in Cohort '08 of *Growing Up in Ireland* at 5 years of age (GUI Study Team, 2013b). This is an important consideration, given concerns with childhood obesity and given the association between calorie intake (with activity levels controlled) and overweight/obesity. A clear gradient was observed when calorie consumption was examined according to family income; on average, children in lower income families consumed 23% more calories per day than those children in the highest income families.

**Potential for GUI:** As at previous waves of the study, diet quality was gathered at the fourth wave (7/8 years) through parental reports of how often their child consumed certain common (healthy and unhealthy) foods. Dietary behaviour can be compared to a number of physical and mental health parameters, as well as background and socio-demographic characteristics and potential mediating factors (such as weight status and self-esteem). Importantly, there is scope for future analysis to investigate whether diet precedes or follows mental health problems in later childhood and adolescence. An understanding of the pathways is important as a guide to the policy interventions likely to be effective.



#### 2.3 SCHOOL AND EDUCATION

#### 2.3.1 SETTLING INTO PRIMARY SCHOOL

The transition into primary school is an important milestone for the developing child, and can have a substantial impact not only on their educational development but also on their emotional and social wellbeing. Looking beyond the initial transition into primary school, longitudinal analysis offers the opportunity to consider the sustained influence of initial school experiences on continued progress. Children's early experiences of the classroom, of new peer and teacher relationships and their acquisition of key literacy and numeracy skills can have a lasting effect on their short- and long-term educational development (Smyth, 2017 and 2018).

While the *Growing Up in Ireland* study of Cohort '08 at 5 years old provided important insights into the children's transition into primary school, the study at age 7/8 is designed to collect developmental and related information on the study child as s/he becomes settled into school and as his/her peer and friendship networks are assuming a greater importance in his/her microsystem. A number of studies have investigated the long-term effect of children's school experience at 7/8 years of age. Focussing on children aged 7 years, Currie and Thomas (1999) used data from the 1958 British National Child Development Survey to establish the link between educational attainment at this age and future educational and economic outcomes. They found a positive association; reading performance as early as age 7 was linked to income at 33 years of age.

Socio-emotional and behavioural problems can also have consequences for later educational achievement. McLeod and Kaiser (2004) used data from the National Longitudinal Survey of Youth to investigate the long-term effects of children's emotional well-being between 6 and 8 years of age. They noted that behavioural and emotional issues experienced between ages 6 and 8 years had significant long-term effect on educational attainment; those with the most problems early in life were less likely to graduate from high school and enter third-level education.

At 5 years of age in the *Growing Up in Ireland* study, most parents reported that their children had adjusted well to school, with girls more positive about school than boys (GUI Study Team, 2013a). In general, children were reported as having a positive attitude towards school; the majority of children did not complain about school at all. Similarly, most children were very rarely upset or reluctant to go to school and the vast majority usually looked forward to going to school. At 9 years of age, most children in Cohort '98 stated that they liked school and their teachers too (GUI Study Team, 2009). Parents also reported that their children were doing well in maths and reading; most parents felt that their child was 'above average' in both subjects.

Smyth (2017) used data from Wave 1 (9 years) and Wave 2 (13 years) of *Growing Up in Ireland* Cohort '98 to examine the factors affecting children's school experience over time. The author noted that positive early experiences in primary school were associated with positive engagement with school and positive attitudes to key subjects like English, Irish and Maths at second level. Positive attitudes to

teachers and specific subjects, as well as performance in those subjects, at 9 years of age was associated with an overall positive experience for schoolchildren at 13 years of age. These findings emphasise the importance and potential lasting effects of early school experiences.

**Potential for GUI:** At Wave 4 (7/8 years of age), the Study Child was in primary school for 2-3 years, with roughly a third in First Class and the remaining two thirds in Second Class. Gathering information regarding the school experience at this time provides a unique insight into the experience of 'settling in' to primary school. This includes issues such as children's attitudes towards their peers, teachers and schoolwork, as well as parent-assessed performance in key academic disciplines. The effects of this experience, both positive and negative, on a range of other socio-emotional and behavioural outcomes can also be explored. Longitudinally, the experience of 'settling in' may prospectively be established as an early predictor for engagement, attainment and happiness at school.

#### 2.3.2 CHILDCARE

Female labour force participation has been increasing rapidly in recent decades (Russell et al., 2009). The percentage of women aged 15 to 64 in the labour force (i.e. either in employment or actively seeking employment) increased from 55% in 1998 to 71% in 2018.<sup>9</sup> This has, amongst other factors, helped fuel the increasingly common utilisation of non-parental childcare amongst Irish families.

An association between maternal employment and the type of childcare used was clear from the survey at 3 years old. At this age, half of the children in Cohort '08 were in some form of non-parental childcare, predominantly in a crèche, a pre-school centre or with a relative (GUI Study Team, 2011; Byrne and O'Toole, 2015). Amongst relatives, grandparents were the most likely to provide childcare help. Most childcare providers were paid, and almost all of those who were not paid were relatives. Parents in employment or with higher educational qualifications were more likely to avail of non-parental childcare, and the average time spent in childcare was 23 hours per week.

Children in the *Growing Up in Ireland* Cohort '08 were amongst the first to avail of the Free Pre-School Year scheme, aimed at giving all children one year in formal centre-based education and care prior to starting formal school. For Cohort '08 at 5 years of age, 96% had availed of the Free Pre-School Year scheme (Murray et al., 2019). Overall, one quarter of families said that they would not have been able to afford this service otherwise, and this figure rose to 39% for those families with the lowest income levels. One-quarter of families supplemented the free pre-school hours with additional hours in the same setting; this was much more common amongst high income families (47%) than among low income families (11%, Murray et al., 2019).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> From Central Statistics Office *QLF18: ILO Participation, Employment and Unemployment Characteristics by Age Group, Sex, Quarter and Statistic.* [www.cso.ie; accessed March 12 2019].

The association between childcare utilisation at age 3 and cognitive performance at age 5 for Cohort '08 of *Growing Up in Ireland* was investigated, focussing on expressive vocabulary and non-verbal reasoning (McGinnity et al., 2015). Accounting for a wide range of other child, family and home characteristics, cognitive development was only slightly higher amongst children in non-parental childcare. This suggests that attending different types of childcare (often depending on their differing backgrounds) contributes slightly to differences in cognitive performance at age 5 years. Care by relatives (and particularly by grandparents) had the strongest association with improved vocabulary for children, echoing findings from the Millennium Cohort Study in the UK. The authors postulated that this association may be explained by a reduced carer-to-child ratio (one-to-one) through childcare provided by a relative.

Russell et al. (2016) also used *Growing Up in Ireland* data from across the first three waves of Cohort '08 study to explore the relationship between childcare utilisation and socio-emotional well-being at age 5. When compared to children in parent-only care, there were some differences depending on whether the care was provided by relatives or non-relative or in a childcare centre and also by whether the socio-emotional well-being was rated by parents or teachers. Overall, however, the association between type of childcare at age three and socio-emotional well-being at age 5 was small: childcare type explained less than 1 per cent of variance in children's scores.

**Potential for GUI:** Information regarding childcare utilisation amongst study children has been collected at all previous waves of the study, including in the inter-wave data collection when the study child was 7/8 years of age. This information affords researchers the opportunity to look at the sustained effects of different types of non-parental childcare at a range of key time-points throughout childhood. Non-parental care at this age is mostly before- or after-school care. This may be of particular importance for diet, help with homework and play with peers.

#### 2.4 ACTIVITIES AND SOCIO-EMOTIONAL DEVELOPMENT

#### 2.4.1 THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN SCREEN TIME AND HEALTH

Screen time traditionally referred to television (TV) viewing time, but has expanded in recent years to include video games, recreational computer/laptop use, the use of both tablets and smartphones, and all forms of social media conducted therein (Saunders & Vallance, 2017). Amongst adults, approximately one third of all daily sedentary behaviour is estimated to be accounted for by screen time; the remaining activities include eating, reading, working and passive commuting (LeBlanc et al., 2015). However, given that children do not work and generally have a relatively short commute to school, screen time accounts for a significantly greater percentage of their total sedentary behaviour and their overall day (Gopinath et al., 2012).

Sedentary behaviour has previously been defined as a lack of physical activity, but it is actually a distinct behavioural category of activities involving low energy expenditure (Pate et al., 2008). There exists a wealth of research investigating the association between physical (in)activity and both physical and mental health. Much less research exists regarding sedentary behaviour and whilst physical activity can

attenuate health risks associated with sedentary behaviour, it cannot completely eliminate them (Ekelund et al., 2016). There is a need for further research investigating the health effects of screen time, specifically addressing the increased use of non-TV, digital screen time.

Whilst specific Irish guidelines do not exist, the American Academy of Paediatrics (2016) recommends that daily screen time for children 2 to 5 years of age should be limited to one hour of high-quality programming and keeping bedrooms and meal-times screen-free. Data from Cohort '08 of *Growing Up in Ireland* at 5 years of age indicated that the majority of children (55%) spent less than 2 hours per day in front of a screen. However, 28% of children had 2-3 hours of screen time per day, and a further 14% had more than 3 hours (GUI Study Team, 2013b).

As far back as the 1980's, an association between childhood obesity and TV viewing time was observed (Dietz & Gortmaker, 1985). These authors reported a 2% increase in the prevalence of obesity for every additional hour spent watching TV. A recent systematic review investigated the association between excessive screen time and obesity, amongst other physical health parameters (Carson et al., 2016). The vast majority of the 162 studies reviewed reported a positive dose-response relationship between higher durations or frequencies of screen time (both TV and computers) and obesity; as children's screen time increased, so too did the likelihood that they would be overweight or obese. Other individual studies have also found significant links between screen time and both abdominal obesity (Mitchell et al., 2013) and waist circumference (LeBlanc et al., 2015).

Some researchers have posited that the association between screen time and obesity can be explained by confounding factors such as diet. Another recent systematic review of 53 studies concluded that increased screen time was associated with poor dietary behaviour, consuming more unhealthy energydense snacks and less fruit and vegetables (Pearson and Biddle, 2011). This was reflected in the **Growing Up in Ireland** data: where higher screen time was associated with higher calorie consumption at 5 years of age (GUI Study Team, 2013b).

Increased screen time can also negatively impact on sleep. In a review of studies considering American children, Hale and Guan (2015) concluded that 97% of US adolescents have at least one digital media device (computer, laptop, tablet, smartphone) in their bedroom. The review, which covered school-aged children and adolescents, suggested that the link between sleep and screen time can be explained by a number of theories: time displacement, the theory that increased screen time eats into the time available for sleep; screen brightness suppresses melatonin production and can impact the natural circadian rhythm; and screen time leads to both psychological and physical arousal, making sleep more difficult. Overall, 76% and 90% of the studies included in the review found that sleep was negatively affected by TV viewing and digital screen time, respectively.

Whilst a strong association between screen time and physical health has been established, less research exists regarding the relationship between screen time on mental health. The use of digital screens for social media has been linked to negative social comparisons, negative self-evaluations and potentially to

depression among high-school students (Pantic et al., 2012). An over-reliance on digital screens and digital distraction can also potentially lead to a delay in children and adolescents learning emotional regulation, an important coping skill essential for positive mental health (Hoge et al., 2017). Increased use of digital media also increases the potential risk of cyberbullying, which can adversely affect mental health (ibid.). Elsewhere, a large-scale review involving 91 studies looked at the link between screen time and a number of mental health outcomes in school-aged children (Suchert et al., 2015). The author found that screen time was linked to an increase in hyperactivity, the internalisation of problems and poorer psychological well-being. The effects on depression and self-esteem were also investigated, although the findings for these proved inconclusive.

Many studies have also investigated the effect of screen time on cognitive development and academic performance, and there seems to be scope for both positive and negative effects. Whilst in early childhood (age 2-5 years) television can be educational and improve vocabulary, general knowledge and school readiness, from 6 years of age onwards TV viewing is an increasingly passive and entertainment-focussed activity (Anderson and Subrahmanyam, 2017). Television viewing can thus hinder children's ability to focus and read (Ennemoser & Schneider, 2007). In contrast, the use of digital screens can aid the development of processing and attentional skills (Green and Bavelier, 2003 and 2007). Overall, however, there has been very little longitudinal research on the impact of using devices such as smartphones on cognition (Wilmer, Sherman and Chein, 2017).

**Potential for GUI:** Children's daily screen time, both during the week and at the weekend, was measured at Wave 4 of the study. This information can be considered in the context of broader health concerns; both physical health issues such as general health, chronic illness and overweight/obesity, as well as mental health concerns. There also exists scope to compare screen time, cross-sectionally or longitudinally, against broader socio-emotional and educational outcomes. Including a sweep at age 7/8 allows researchers to more precisely assess whether there are changes in the patterns of use of screen-based devices (either in terms of purpose or the time involved) throughout middle-childhood.

#### 2.4.2 THE BENEFITS OF PLAYING

Play has many benefits for children, particularly in terms of fostering cognitive and physical, as well as social and emotional, well-being and development. A recent clinical report by the American Academy of Pediatrics, 'The Power of Play', highlighted the role of play in optimising child development in the aforementioned areas; as well as the usefulness of play for children to manage stress, especially when faced with adversity (Yogman, Garner, Hutchinson, Hirsh-Pasek and Golinkoff, 2018). Having the time and opportunity for play is considered essential to the lived experience of childhood, so much so that it is classed as a right of every child by the United Nations (1989).

At 5 years of age the parents of *Growing Up in Ireland* Cohort '08 Study Children were asked about structured play (attending sports clubs or groups) and unstructured physical play (climbing, running, chasing) (Murray et al., 2019). Boys were more likely than girls to participate daily in physically active

play, such as climbing (35% versus 26%), playing ball (60% versus 38%) and chasing (70% versus 63%). Differences were also observed in terms of socio-economic status; children from less advantaged families participated more in unstructured physical play, while children from more highly educated or higher-income families were more likely to attend a sports club or group.

Research (albeit often on older age groups) has pointed to benefits of activities outside of school for children's emotional and behavioural development. Using data collected through the Longitudinal Study of Young People in England, Driessens (2015) reported an association between extracurricular activities in adolescents and improvements in behavioural outcomes. However, the extent and nature of the benefit derived from extracurricular activities varied according to the specific activity. Sports activities were linked to reduced symptoms of depression and anxiety. Expressive (music, drama) or religious activities were linked to increased psychological distress but reduced odds of disruptive behaviour. Overall, the author recommended extracurricular activities as protective against disruptive behavioural issues.

In a systematic review by Brussoni et al. (2015), outdoor risk-taking play activities such as hiding, climbing and rough and tumble play were all broadly linked to positive health outcomes for children aged 3 to 12. Outdoor play and rough and tumble activities led to increased physical activity levels and a reduction in unhealthy sedentary behaviour, and increased social competence too; children who had increased independent mobility were likely to meet and play with other children in their neighbourhood. These socalled 'risky' activities did not seem to have any adverse effects on health, in terms of injuries reported. An intervention study which randomly assigned 7-9-year-olds to a 9-month afterschool program of physically active play demonstrated improvements in not just physical fitness, but also on behavioural and cognitive measures (Hillman, Pontifex, Castelli et al. 2014).

Play contributes to brain (and cognitive) development; the problem-solving nature of many games and activities conducted during play can stimulate neural development (Frost, 1998). Play is also an important context in which children develop social and emotional skills (Ginsburg, 2007). Through play activities children explore and interact with the world around them, practicing adult roles and gaining the necessary experience and confidence to face potential future challenges (Erickson, 1985). Unstructured play also allows children to develop many other social skills, such as sharing, collaborating, decision-making and conflict resolution. This is particularly true when play activities are child/children-led; play controlled by adults can suppress benefits like creativity, leadership and team-work (MacDonald, 1993).

**Potential for GUI:** Study children's Primary Caregivers reported how often the child participated in a variety of play activities at 7/8 years of age. This information can be linked to child health, in terms of general health, BMI and cognitive development. It will also be possible to explore the interaction between physically active play, sedentary play, screen time and other educational activities such as reading.



#### 2.5 SUMMARY

In this chapter, a number of strands in the literature relevant to 7/8-year-olds were reviewed, with an emphasis on issues that could be examined using the 7/8-year-old data from *Growing Up in Ireland*. Chief among these were the association between change in family status and change in socio-economic well-being; the link between socio-economic status and child development; child health and academic achievement; weight status at age 7/8 and its consequences for later weight status; school engagement at this age; experiences of childcare; and the link between activities (including screen time) and socio-emotional development





## **Chapter 3**

## OVERVIEW OF SAMPLE DESIGN, ATTRITION AND RE-WEIGHTING





#### **3 OVERVIEW OF SAMPLE DESIGN, ATTRITION AND RE-WEIGHTING**

#### 3.1 SAMPLE DESIGN

#### 3.1.1 SAMPLE DESIGN AT WAVE 1, 2 AND 3

As outlined in the publication, Sample Design and Response in Wave 1 of the Infant Cohort of *Growing Up in Ireland*, the Child Benefit register was used as the sampling frame to first select potential respondents into Cohort '08 of the study at the age of 9 months. As *Growing Up in Ireland* has a longitudinal fixed panel design, follow-ups at age 7/8 years were based on the original 11,134 individual cohort members who participated in the first wave, who continued to live in Ireland at 7/8 years of age, and with no additions to the sample in the interim.

Of the original 11,134 children and families who participated at Wave 1, 9,793 completed an interview at Wave 2 when the cohort members were aged 3 years. At Wave 3 (aged 5 years), the number of participating families was 9,001. In the first three waves, data were collected in a face-to-face interview with the child's Primary Caregiver and his/her resident spouse/partner (where applicable), conducted in the family's home. As noted in Chapter One above, however, at Wave 4 the data were collected via a short postal questionnaire completed by the Study Child's Primary Caregiver only.

#### 3.1.2 SAMPLE DESIGN AT WAVE 4

The target population for sampling at Wave 4 (when the Study Child was 7/8 years old) comprised the children and families who participated in Wave 1 as well as in Wave 2 and/or Wave 3. Families who had moved abroad, moved within Ireland with no forwarding address, or who had requested at Wave 2 or Wave 3 to be removed from the study, were not sent the questionnaire for Wave 4. In all, 10,317 families were to be included in the 7/8 year phase. Just over 95 per cent of these families had participated in all previous waves, while approximately 1 per cent had participated at Wave 1 but not at Wave 2 or 3. Two per cent of the Wave 4 study sample completed all except Wave 2, and a final 2 per cent completed all but Wave 3 (see Table 1).

#### 3.2 **RESPONSE RATES**

Having excluded families who had moved abroad by the time of the 5-year-old sweep, those who could not be traced in earlier waves and those who asked to be removed from the study, a total of 10,317 families were sent questionnaires with an accompanying letter and information sheet in the first mail shot at Wave 4. The questionnaire and Information Sheet were addressed to the person identified as the Study Child's Primary Caregiver at the family's most recent face-to-face interview (mostly those which took place when the Study Child was 5 years of age).

The first mailshot in the 7/8-year survey was issued between the last week of February and first week of March 2016 and resulted in 2,795 returned completed questionnaires. A



reminder letter was sent to 7,522 families between March and April 2016. A second reminder (i.e. third mail shot) was sent out to the remaining 5,444 families between April and June of 2016.

The postal phase was followed by a telephone phase. For resource reasons, telephone followup was limited to those cases that had been identified as those most likely to participate – largely on the basis of their participation in previous waves. The Study Team phoned 534 nonrespondent families in June and July 2016 to encourage them to participate.

Ultimately a total of 5,344 usable questionnaires were returned to the Study Team. As shown in Table 3.1, this amounts to 46 per cent of the families where interviewing had taken place at 9 months of age and 52 per cent of the target sample of 10,317 families sent questionnaires for Wave 4. This response rate does not take account of the families who no longer lived in Ireland at the time of the survey, and whose letters were returned by An Post as being unknown at the last address then available to the Study Team. Many of these non-respondents may no longer have been living in Ireland at the time of the survey and so should have been excluded from the response rate (from the denominator). The Study Team is not in a position to estimate how many target respondents had, in fact, left Ireland between waves 3 and 4, and so the estimated 52 per cent response rate is a conservative estimate.

Table 3.1 Re	sponse patterns of	participants in the	7/8-year postal	survey acros	s the four
waves of Coh	ort '08, 9 months t	to 7/8 years of age.			

Family participated at						
9 months	3 years	5 years	7/8 years	Number	% of Wave 1 sample (before excluding those not issued Wave 4)	% of W4 completions
Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	5,086	46%	95%
Yes	Yes	Yes	No	3,626	33%	
Yes	Yes	No	Yes	121	1%	2%
Yes	Yes	No	No	960	9%	
Yes	No	Yes	Yes	97	1%	2%
Yes	No	Yes	No	192	2%	
Yes	No	No	Yes	40	0%	1%
Yes	No	No	No	1,012	9%	
Total				11,134	100%	100%

Response rates to postal surveys are typically lower than response rates to face-to-face or telephone surveys; a rate of 40% to 50% is not unusual in the context of a postal-follow in study with a longitudinal design (Bauman et al., 2016; Bray et al., 2017). The inclusion of a telephone reminder in the main survey design did boost the response rate compared to the pilot, but it remained lower than would be expected in a face-to-face design.

#### 3.3 ATTRITION

Inter-wave attrition (or non-response) is regrettably a feature common to all panel surveys. The postal questionnaire at age 7/8 years was the fourth time that families in this cohort had

been approached to participate in *Growing Up in Ireland*. The patterns of responses across the four waves is summarised in Table 3.1 above. It shows that most (95 per cent) of participants in the 7/8-year postal survey had also taken part in each of the previous three waves of interview.

To account for non-random attrition in surveys of this kind, it is necessary to re-weight (or statistically adjust) the data to address systematic response bias. At this wave, the four key family characteristics identified as most strongly related to the completion and return of the postal survey on the 7/8-year-olds were: higher family social class, higher family equivalised income, a two-parent family structure, and a higher level of Primary Caregiver education (see Table 3.2).<sup>10</sup>

As can be seen in Table 3.2, comparing the first and second columns of figures, the higher social classes (Professionals and managers) were overrepresented in the Wave 4 respondents; as were those in the highest income fifth and two-parent families and families with higher levels of maternal education.

Given the strengths of these social gradients in response patterns, it was decided to use these four background characteristics to re-weight (statistically adjust) the data to ensure that they were representative of the relevant population. The final column of Table 3.2 shows the distribution of Wave 4 cases with the weights applied. These adjusted distributions were very close to the Wave 1 figures. Moreover, given the large sample size among the completed questionnaires (5,344 cases), the completed sample was still sufficiently large to permit useful analyses on a wide range of issues.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Other variables examined during the process of constructing the weights were child gender, PCG work status, degree of difficulty making ends meet, PCG place of birth, whether child was low birthweight, whether child was breastfed. All of these were measured at wave 1.

		Full sample (Wave 1 charac- teristics)	Completed sample at (Wave 4, 7/8 years)	W4 with weights
Social class	Professional	13%	16%	13%
	Managerial & technical	35%	42%	36%
	Other non-manual	18%	18%	19%
	Skilled manual	15%	12%	14%
	Semi-skilled and unskilled manual	10%	7%	10%
	Never employed	9%	4%	7%
Income quintile	Lowest	20%	12%	17%
	Second	20%	18%	21%
	Third	20%	21%	20%
	Fourth	22%	26%	22%
	Fifth	18%	23%	19%
Household Structure	One parent 1 child under 18 years	7%	4%	6%
	One parent 2 or more children	8%	3%	6%
	Two parents 1 child under 18 years	32%	36%	32%
	Two parents 2 or more children	53%	57%	56%
Maternal education	Lower 2nd Level	18%	11%	17%
	Upper 2nd Level	33%	29%	33%
	Further educ. (less than degree)	20%	22%	20%
	Degree or higher	29%	37%	30%

Table 3.2	Comparing the Full Sample and the Completed Wave 4 Sample in terms of
characteri	stics of respondents (as measured at Wave 1).

Note: The full sample distribution shows the Wave 1 characteristics for all Wave 1 cases, with the Wave 1 weights. The completed sample cases in the next column are the Wave 4 completions shown with the Wave 1 characteristics with Wave 1 weights applied; the final column shows the Wave 4 completions with the Wave 4 weights applied.

#### 3.4 PROCESS FOR REWEIGHTING THE DATA

In the case of *Growing Up in Ireland*'s fourth data sweep, the population under consideration is made up of the children who were living in Ireland at 9 months of age and who continued to live here at 7/8 years, when the postal survey was carried out. Re-weighting (or statistically adjusting) is required in all sample surveys to ensure that design and non-response characteristics do not systematically introduce bias into the estimates derived from the sample survey, so inferences from the sample can be applied to the relevant population.

A standard iterative procedure was used to generate the weights used in all phases of **Growing Up in Ireland**. This was implemented using software (known as the GROSS<sup>11</sup> system) which was developed for the ESRI. The GROSS system is based on a minimum information loss

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> See, for example, Gomulka, 1992 and 1994.



algorithm which fits population marginals to sample totals, within a regression framework and adjusts the sample according to pre-specified characteristics to ensure that it produces estimates which match population totals.

The sample weights for Wave 4 of Cohort '08 were constructed by first generating an interwave attrition weight to adjust the composition of the completed Wave 4 sample (7/8 years of age) to the Wave 3 sample (5-year-olds) by controlling for variations in Wave 4 response and attrition according to:

- family social class
- family equivalised income
- family structure
- Primary Caregiver's educational attainment

When the Wave 4 sample was adjusted by the attrition weight in line with differential interwave response, a new Wave 4 weighting factor was generated by taking the product of the attrition weight between Waves 3 and 4 and the Wave 3 weighting factor assigned to each child at that time. The reader is reminded that the Wave 3 weight, in turn, incorporated the differential response at Wave 2, which also incorporated response between Wave 1 and Wave 2 as well as design and response weights at Wave 1. Because the survey in Wave 4 was conducted on a postal basis, the Study Team did not have any systematic information to allow it to make any adjustment for families who emigrated or children who deceased between Waves 3 and 4 and so were no longer included in the longitudinal population.<sup>12</sup> Accordingly, the adjusted sample at Wave 4 was calibrated to a population total of 69,300 children, the best estimate of the population, as was available at 5 years of age. Further details on the weighting process are available in the technical data summary guide (Thornton et al, 2013).

As shown in Table 3.2 above, comparing the third column of figures to the first column, the weighting procedure results in a sample structure that is much closer to that of the full Wave 1 sample in terms of social class, maternal education, housing income and household structure.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> If fieldwork had been carried out on a face-to-face basis one could have made a good estimate of the number of families involved from Interviewers' Work Sheets



# Chapter 4

### **OVERVIEW OF INSTRUMENTATION AND PROCEDURES**





#### 4 OVERVIEW OF INSTRUMENTATION AND PROCEDURES

#### 4.1 DEVELOPMENT AND PILOTING

#### 4.1.1 INITIAL DEVELOPMENT

Although there was a change in methodology and scope for the fourth wave at age 7/8 years, similar principles were adopted in the design of the postal questionnaire. There was extensive consultation with academics and policy-makers, with the policy sector input coming from the departments of the Children and Youth Affairs; Social Protection; Education and Skills; and the Central Statistics Office. As much as feasible, the questionnaire incorporated measures previously used in *Growing Up in Ireland* to maximise the potential for longitudinal analysis of the data across waves. However, it was obviously necessary to limit the length of a questionnaire that would be distributed by post and self-completed by the respondent. In addition to longitudinal consistency and significance, the Study Team also assessed items for inclusion in the 7/8 year questionnaire in terms of:

- Policy relevance
- Particular relevance to age 7/8 years
- Suitability for self-completion, on paper, by the child's Primary Caregiver
- The 'value-to-length' proportion given the need to maximise the response to a postal questionnaire
- Availability of similar information from other sources

As a result of the severe constraints on questionnaire length, there was virtually no scope for the addition of new items in this wave. The questionnaire ultimately collected information on five core topics: the Study Child's family; his/her health and development; education and after-school care; play activities; and being a parent.

#### 4.1.2 PILOTING THE INSTRUMENT

After the composition of an initial draft of the questionnaire, the piloting of the instrumentation and process were a key part of the development for the main phase. As with the main sample, the pilot sample is longitudinal and comprised 163 families who had also completed an interview when the child was aged 5 years plus 20 families who missed the last interview but had taken part in earlier waves.

The questionnaire and accompanying documents were posted to the person who was designated as the Primary Caregiver at the most recent round of the study. Up to two further mailshots were sent out as necessary. In total, 86 questionnaires were completed and returned in the pilot phase; 84 from families who participated at age 5 years and a further two



families who had missed the last wave. Thus the overall response rate in the pilot phase was 47%.

Although the sample obtained from the pilot was relatively small, it provided useful feedback in terms of procedures and protocols related to the postal basis of this data sweep. From an assessment of the quality of data from the pilot phase, the study team concluded that the postal questionnaire would add substantially to the study's information on the children at 7/8 years of age, as well as perform an important function in terms of cohort maintenance between 5 and 9 years of age. Although a response rate of 40% to 50% is not unusual for an inter-wave postal survey as part of a longitudinal design (Bauman et al., 2016; Bray et al., 2017), the decision was made to add a telephone reminder component to the main phase of the study in order to boost response rates.

#### 4.1.3 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

All instrumentation, including the questionnaire, letter and information sheet, were evaluated by the *Growing Up in Ireland* Research Ethics Committee prior to the pilot and the main phase. Procedures relating to child protection were informed by Children First: National Guidelines for the Protection and Welfare of Children (Department of Children and Youth Affairs, 2009) as well as the relevant Acts in Irish legislation. Acts of particular relevance for this Study are the Data Protection Acts 1988, 2003 and the Statistics Act, 1993. All staff working on *Growing Up in Ireland* were security vetted by An Garda Síochána (the Irish Police Service).

#### 4.2 QUESTIONNAIRE AND PROCEDURES FOR THE MAIN PHASE

#### 4.2.1 OUTLINE OF QUESTIONNAIRE AND PROCEDURE

A single postal questionnaire was sent to the home with an accompanying letter and Information Sheet, with a view to self-completion and postal return by the Study Child's Primary Caregiver. Up to two reminders were sent by post and a sub-sample were followed up by phone (see earlier section). The content of the questionnaire is broadly outlined in Table 2 and was mostly unchanged from the pilot phase. The full questionnaire is shown in Appendix 3. In addition to completing the postal questionnaire, the Primary Caregiver was asked to measure and record the height and weight of the Study Child using their own home equipment. Participants were provided with a Freephone number that they could to call with any queries.

RESPONDENT	MODE OF COMPLETION	SUMMARY OF CONTENT
Primary Caregiver	Self-complete Paper Questionnaire	<ul> <li>Postal Questionnaire</li> <li>A. You and your family</li> <li>B. Your child's health and development</li> <li>C. Your child's education and after- school care</li> <li>D. Your child's activities and pastimes</li> <li>E. Being a parent</li> </ul>
Study Child	Measured by PCG	Physical Measurements <ul> <li>Height</li> <li>Weight</li> </ul>

#### 4.2.2 DETAILED CONTENT

The questionnaire was broken into five main sections: you and your family; your child's health and development; your child's education and after-school care; your child's activities and pastimes; and being a parent. Each section is discussed below, and a copy of the questionnaire used in this wave of the study is included in Appendix 3. As an aid to researchers considering using the data from the age 7/8 sweep, Appendix 2 provides descriptive statistics for the key questionnaire items for boys and girls separately.

#### Section A: You and your family

Q1-3: Relationship of person completing the questionnaire to the Study Child and reason for a change in Primary Caregiver (where applicable)

Q4-5: Household composition – respondents were asked to list basic details of all people currently living in the house with the Study Child such as date of birth, gender, relationship to the child and whether that person had been in the household when the Study Child was aged 5 years. For confidentiality reasons, prior information was not pre-filled onto the paper questionnaire but the returned information was compared to the previous information at the point of data entry.

Q6-7: Principal economic status of the Primary Caregiver (work, student, home duties etc.) including number of hours worked per week.

Q8: Number of employed adults in the household

#### Section B: Your child's health and development

Q9: Primary Caregiver's perception of the child's overall health status on a four-point scale from 'very healthy, no problems' to 'almost always unwell'. The same question has been asked at previous waves of *Growing Up in Ireland*.



Q10-14: Details on any longstanding physical or mental illness, condition or disability that the child had – this included an open-ended description of the condition, whether the child was hampered by the condition, if it had been diagnosed by a medical professional and, if it had, when it was diagnosed. In previous waves of this cohort, the nature of the condition would have been selected from a list of categories but the open-ended text style was used with the older Cohort '98 at 9 years (and planned for Cohort '08 at 9 years). Similar questions on being hampered ('no', 'some extent' or 'severely') and diagnosis were asked in previous waves.

Q15: Parents' Evaluation of Developmental Status (PEDS; Glascoe, 2003)

This was a new measure for Cohort '08. In part, it replaces the direct observation of the child's development undertaken by interviewers during a household visit. The PEDS is a scale of nine items that provide a measure of any concerns the Primary Caregiver may have about the Study Child's development. It covers nine different skills relating to language, motor development, behaviour and learning. These items make up two subscales: Developmental and Academic Concerns and Mental Health Concerns. The items were modified slightly for use in *Growing Up in Ireland* with consent from the original developer of the scale (Glascoe, 2003; see Appendix 1 for indicative reliability statistics).

The Development and Academic Concerns subscale was calculated by combining the total score on six questions where yes=1 and no=0. A total score of 0 (i.e. parent reported no concerns on any of the relevant items) was categorised as 'no/low risk of academic/developmental problems', a score of 1 (i.e. parent had a concern on one of the six area) was categorised as 'moderate risk for academic/developmental problems', and a score of 2 or more was 'elevated risk for academic/developmental problems' (i.e. parent had concerns in two or more of the six areas). A similar scoring system was used for the Mental Health Concerns subscale, using the three remaining questions. A total score of 0 (no concerns) was categorised as 'no/low risk for mental health problems' and a score of 1 or more (concerns) was categorised as 'elevated risk for mental health problems'. The scoring was as advised by the test authors.

Q16: Social Skills Improvement System Rating Scales (SSIS\_RS; Gresham & Elliot, 2008)

This scale provides a measure of the Study Child's social skills and abilities to interact positively with adults and peers. The version of the SSIS\_RS used in *Growing Up in Ireland*, which appears on the postal questionnaire, comprises 26 questions that sum to four subscales: Assertion, Responsibility, Empathy and Self-control. This measure was previously used at age 5 years (see Appendix 1 for indicative reliability statistics).

Q17: Diet inventory – the Primary Caregiver was asked to note the type of food and drink consumed by the Study Child in the previous 24 hours. Fifteen categories were presented. The inventory is an adaptation of the Sallis Amherst measure and had previously been used with Cohort '98 at 9 and 13 years, but this was its first use with Cohort '08.



Q18-19: Child's height and weight as measured by the Primary Caregiver; both imperial and metric options were given. The respondent was asked to measure the child's height without shoes and his/her weight in just light clothing and no shoes.

Section C: Your child's education and after-school care

Q20-22: Details of class and school currently attended, and if it was the same school as winter 2013 (when the children were aged 5 years).

Q23: How the Study Child liked school – four items on how often the child was positive or negative about school (e.g. complains about school, says good things about it). These questions were previously asked at age 5 years for children who had already started school at the time of the Wave 3 home visit.

Q24-25, 27: Primary Caregiver's assessment of the child's academic ability – questions on whether the pace of learning suits the child and if they find school-work hard which were also asked at age 5 years for children already in school. At Q27, the Primary Caregiver rates the child's ability separately for reading, writing, and maths and numeracy using a five-point scale from 'well above average' to 'well below average'. This information was not collected previously for Cohort '08 but similar questions were asked of parents of Cohort '98 at age 9 years.

Q26: Primary Caregiver's assessment of how well the child had settled into school – three items covering being able to sit still, getting adequate support from the teacher and adjusting to school. There was a five-point rating scale for each item from 'strongly agree' to 'strongly disagree' with a sixth 'don't know' option. This information was also recorded at age 5 years for children who had already started school.

Q28-31: Details of non-parental care during the school year – type, hours per week and cost. Similar questions were asked in previous waves of data collection with Cohort '08.

#### Section D: Your child's activities and pastimes

Q32: Strengths & Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ; Goodman, 1997)

The SDQ is a 25-item behavioural screening questionnaire designed to assess emotional health and problem behaviours in children. The SDQ comprises five subscales, four of which can be combined to give a total difficulties score. The four difficulties subscales relate to emotional symptoms, conduct, hyperactivity and peer problems. The fifth subscale describes pro-social behaviour. The SDQ measure was previously used with this cohort at ages 3 and 5 years (see Appendix 1 for indicative reliability statistics).

Q33: Study Child's play activities - Primary Caregivers reported on how often the child engaged in eight different play activities using a five-point scale of 'never' to 'every day'. The list



contained a mix of physical and sedentary play including 'games that involve a lot of running around, like football' and 'paints, draws or makes models'. These play questions were based on similar items asked at age 5 years.

Q34-35: Screen time and associated snacking – the Primary Caregiver was asked to report on the amount of time the child spent on screen-based activities such as watching TV and using a smart phone (excluding screen time at school). For the first time, the respondent was asked to note time on a typical weekend day separately to a typical week day. Week-day screen–time was previously recorded at age 5 years and time watching TV was asked at age 3 years. Q35 asked how often the child ate snacks while watching TV or playing games etc. with answers on a four-point scale from 'always/almost always' to 'never/almost never'.

#### Section E: Being a parent

Q36: Parent-child learning activities – a list of nine activities with educational potential was presented to Primary Caregivers and they were asked how often they did them with the Study Child. These included playing together with toys or games, playing computer games, visiting the library with the child and listening to him/her read. Frequency was indicated on a five-point scale ranging from 'never' to 'every day'. The same questions were asked at age 5 years.

Q37: The Pianta Child Parent Relationship Scale (CPRS; Pianta, 1992)

This 15-item scale completed by the Primary Caregiver assesses both the negative and positive aspects of the relationship between parent and child. The measure produces a Positive Aspects subscale (e.g. sharing a warm, affectionate relationship) and a Conflicts subscale (e.g. child easily becomes angry with me). The scale was also used with this cohort at ages 3 and 5 years (see Appendix 1 for indicative reliability statistics).

Q38-40: Financial status of the household – three questions covering the degree of difficulty the household has in making ends meet (Q38); the proportion of household income coming from social welfare payments (Q40) and whether their financial position has got better, worse or stayed the same since the child was 5 years old (Q39). This last question is new to the study but Q38 and Q40 have been asked in previous waves.

#### 4.2.3 PROCEDURES

#### 4.2.3.1 CONTACTING A HOUSEHOLD AND TRACING

As with all previous waves of the study, initial contact with the family was made by way of a cover letter and Information Sheet; these were sent in conjunction with the postal questionnaire between March and October of 2015. A postage-paid envelope was provided for the questionnaire's return to the Study Team. If the questionnaire was not returned by the family, two subsequent reminders and postal questionnaires were sent. If at this stage there



was still no response, a subset of families (selecting those non-respondents among the 5,086 who had responded in earlier waves) was called and reminded by the Study Team.

In cases where the letter was returned by An Post (the Irish Postal Service), efforts were made to contact families by telephone to establish their address so that the postal questionnaire could be sent to them at their new address. This was also a useful exercise for tracing families in preparation for the next household visit at age 9 years.

#### 4.2.3.2 PRIMARY CAREGIVER AS SOLE RESPONDENT

The Primary Caregiver was self-identified within the home as the person who provided most care to the Study Child and who knew most about him/her. The questionnaire was sent to the person who was recorded as being the Primary Caregiver of the child at the last wave but with flexibility to be filled out by a 'new' Primary Caregiver. In most cases, the Primary Caregiver was the child's mother.

Unlike previous waves of the study, no questionnaires were sent to the Secondary Caregiver, non-resident parent or to the child him/herself.

#### 4.2.3.3 PROCEDURE FOR TWIN OR TRIPLET STUDY CHILDREN

If there were twin or triplet Study Children in a household then separate postal questionnaires for each child were sent to the Primary Caregiver.

#### 4.2.3.4 PHYSICAL MEASUREMENTS

Heights and weights of all study children were recorded by the Primary Caregiver and noted on the postal questionnaire. Weight could be recorded in kilograms or stones and pounds. Height could be recorded in centimetres or feet and inches. Since the heights and weights were not measured by interviewers using standardized procedures (as in the face-to-face waves of data collection), the parent-reported figures are likely to be less reliable.



## **Chapter 5** OVERVIEW OF FINDINGS AND CONCLUSION





#### 5 OVERVIEW OF FINDINGS AND CONCLUSION

This report summarises the design and instrumentation of data collection from *Growing Up in Ireland* Cohort '08 families when the Study Child was 7/8 years old. Its main purpose is to provide a guide to researchers interested in using these data. The report outlines the literature relevant to this age group (emphasising topics not already covered in the earlier literature reviews), the design and piloting experience of the data collection exercise and the instruments used. As noted in Chapter 3, postal questionnaires at this round of the survey were completed by 5,344 Primary Caregivers, representing a response rate (conservatively estimated) of 52 per cent. Appendix 1 provides reliability statistics on the main scales used in the 7/8 year wave; Appendix 2 provides descriptive statistics broken down by gender and the questionnaire is included in Appendix 3.

As noted in Chapter 1, three Key Findings from this wave have already been published (GUI Study Team, 2017a, b and c), dealing with the children's education, health and socio-emotional development. In the following pages, an overview of some of the content of the 7/8 year wave is provided in infographic form. Figure 5.1 shows that most 7/8-year-olds lived with both parents; 37% lived with mothers who worked between 21 and 40 hours; nearly 40% were regularly cared for by someone other than a parent; and over one-third were better off in 2016 than in 2013.

Figure 5.2 shows some of the main findings regarding the physical health and development of the 7/8 year olds. Mothers described 80% of them as 'very healthy' and just 16% had a longstanding illness, disability of condition. Based on parent-reported measures of height and weight, nearly 1-in-5 were overweight or obese. Drawing on parent reports of the child's development, boys were twice as likely as girls to have an elevated risk of developmental problems (16% compared to 8%).

Figure 5.3 focuses on mothers' reports of the children's school experiences and educational development, which were generally very positive. Most mothers agreed that their child had adjusted well to school (about 9-in-10); 71% of the 7/8-year-olds said positive things about school more than once a week; and 86% of parents said the pace of learning was just right for their child.

Figure 5.4 shows that the mothers generally gave the children relatively high scores in terms of prosocial behaviour (such as sharing, showing consideration) and low scores on problems with emotions, conduct, peers or attention. Mothers reported a relatively high level of use of technology, with 1-in-4 children playing on a computer every day and over half doing so at least 3 times a week.

Although the response rate to the postal survey at age 7/8 was lower than would be expected from a face-to-face round, the data provide useful information on the Study Child's early years in Primary School and the contact with families at this stage was a useful contribution to panel maintenance.

#### Figure 5.1 Infographic - The families of 7/8-year-olds



#### Figure 5.2 Infographic - The health and physical development of 7/8-year-olds



Source: Growing Up in Ireland AMF 7/8 years



#### Figure 5.3 Infographic on the learning and school experiences of 7/8-year-olds



Fn: 1 - "don't agree" includes 'neither agree/disagree', 'disagree' and 'strongly disagree'

rce: Growing Up in Ireland AMF for 7/8 years



Attention probs.

Scores out

оf 10

on aspects of emotional

well-being

30

29

20

Every day

#### Figure 5.4 Infographic - The social and emotional well-being of 7/8-year-olds





#### REFERENCES

American Academy of Pediatrics (2016). Media and Young Minds: Policy Statement. Pediatrics, 138 (5):1-6.

- Anderson, DR. & Subrahmanyam, K. (2017). Digital Screen Media and Cognitive Development, *Pediatrics* 140 (2).
- Baker, KD., Loughman, A., Spencer, S.J. & Reichelt, AC. (2017). The impact of obesity and hypercaloric diet consumption on anxiety and emotional behavior across the lifespan. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 83, 173-182.
- Banks, J., Maître, B., McCoy, S., and Watson, D. (2016) *Parental Educational Expectations of Children with Disabilities*. (ESRI Research Series) Dublin: Economic and Social Research Institute.
- Banks, J., McCoy, S. & Shevlin, M. (2013). Inclusive education research: Evidence from Growing Up in Ireland. *Trinity Education Papers*, *2*, 24-35.
- Bauman, A., Phongsavan, P., Cowle, A., Banks, E., Jorm, L., Rogers, K., Jalaludin, B., ... Grunseit, A. (2016). Maximising follow-up participation rates in a large scale 45 and Up Study in Australia. Emerging themes in epidemiology, 13, 6. doi:10.1186/s12982-016-0046-y
- Bessell, A. G. (2001) Children surviving cancer: psychosocial adjustment, quality of life, and school experiences. *Exceptional Children*, 67, 345–359.
- Bray, I., Noble, S., Robinson, R., Molloy, L., & Tilling, K. (2017). Mode of delivery affected questionnaire response rates in a birth cohort study. *Journal of clinical epidemiology*, *81*, 64-71.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. & Morris P., (2006), 'The bioecological model of human development', in RMV. Lerner, W. Damon, and RMS. Lerner (eds.), Handbook of Child Psychology, vol. 1: Theoretical Models of Human Development (pp. 793-828), Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). The Ecology of Human Development: Experiment by Nature and Design, Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1993). The ecology of cognitive development. In R. H. Woznick and K. Fischer (eds.), Acting and Thinking in Specific Environments (pp. 3-44), Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Brussoni, M., Gibbons, R., Gray, C., Ishikawa, T., Sandseter, EBH., Bienenstock, A., Chabot, G., Fuselli, P., Herrington, S., Janssen, I., Pickett, W., Power, M., Stanger, N., Sampson, M., Tremblay, MS. (2015). What is the Relationship between Risky Outdoor Play and Health in Children? A Systematic Review. Int J Environ Res Public Health, 8; 12 (6): 6423-54.
- Byrne, D. & O'Toole, C. (2015). The influence of childcare arrangements on child wellbeing from infancy to middle childhood. Dublin, TUSLA Child and Family Agency.
- Carson V., Hunter S., Kuzik N., Gray CE., Poitras VJ., Chaput JP., Saunders TJ., Katzmarzyk PT., Okely AD., Connor-Gorber S., Kho, ME., Sampson, M., Lee, H. & Tremblay, MS. (2016). Systematic review of sedentary behaviour and health indicators in school-aged children and youth: an update. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab*, 41(6 Suppl 3):S240–S265.
- Cole, TJ. (2004). Children grow and horses race: is the adiposity rebound a critical period for later obesity? *BMC Pediatrics*, 4, 6.
- Cooper, K. and Stewart, K. (2013). Does money affect children's outcomes?: A systematic review. York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation. http://www.jrf.org.uk/publications/does-money-affect-childrens-outcomes.
- Cooper, K. and Stewart, K. (2017). Does money affect children's outcomes An Update. Centre for Analysis of Social Exclusion Paper 203. London: Centre for Analysis of Social Exclusion, London School of Economics.

- Currie, J. & Thomas, D. (1999). Early test scores, socioeconomic status and future outcomes (NBER Working Paper No. W6943). Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Department of Children and Youth Affairs (2009) *Children First: National Guidelines for the Protection and Welfare of Children*. Dublin: Government Stationery Office.
- Department of Education and Skills (2014). A Guide to the Irish Education System. Retrieved from <u>https://www.education.ie/en/Parents/Information/A-Guide-to-the-Irish-Education-System.pdf on 14</u> February 2018.
- Dietz WH. & Gortmaker SL. (1985). Do we fatten our children at the television set? Obesity and television viewing in children and adolescents. *Pediatrics*, 75, 807–812
- Doyle, A., Hourigan, S. & Fanagan, S. (2017). Annual Report of the National Intellectual Disability Database Committee 2016 – Main Findings, Dublin: Health Research Board.
- Driessens, C. (2015). Extracurricular activity participation moderates impact of family and school factors on adolescents' disruptive behavioural problems. *BMC Public Health*, 15: 1110.
- Duncan, GJ., Brooks-Gunn, J. & Klebanov, PK. (1994) Economic deprivation and early childhood development. *Child Development*, 65, 296-318.
- Ekelund U., Steene-Johannessen J., Brown WJ., Fagerland MW., Owen N., Powell KE., Bauman A., Lee IM.; Lancet Physical Activity Series 2 Executive Committe; Lancet Sedentary Behaviour Working Group. (2016). Does physical activity attenuate, or even eliminate, the detrimental association of sitting time with mortality? A harmonised meta-analysis of data from more than 1 million men and women. *Lancet*, 24, 388 (10051), 1302-10.
- Ennemoser, M. & Schneider, W. (2007). Relations of television viewing and reading: findings from a 4-year longitudinal study. *J Educ Psychol*. 99(2), 349–368
- Erickson RJ. (1985). Play contributes to the full emotional development of the child. Education, 105, 261–263.
- Fahey, T., Keilthy, P. and Polek E. (2012). Family relationships and family well-being: a study of the families of nine year-olds in Ireland. Dublin, University College Dublin.
- Fong, HF., Rothman, EF., Garner, A., Ghazarian, SR., Morley, DS., Singerman, A. & Bair-Merritt, MH. (2018). Association between health literacy and parental self-efficacy among parents of newborn children. J Pediatr, 202, 265-271.
- Frost JL. Neuroscience, play and brain development. (1998). Paper presented at: *IPA/USA Triennial National Conference*; Longmont, CO; Available at: <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED427845.pdf</u>
- Garbarino, J. (1982) Children and Families in the Social Environment, New York: Aldine Publishing Co.
- Ginsburg, K. R. (2007). The importance of play in promoting healthy child development and maintaining strong parent-child bonds. *Pediatrics*, 119(1), 182–191. doi:10.1542/peds.2006-2697
- Glascoe, F. (2003), Parents' evaluation of developmental status: how well do parents' concerns identify children with behavioural and emotional problems? *Clin Pediatr*, 42 (2), 133-8.
- Gomulka, J., 1992. "Grossing-Up Revisited", in R. Hancock and H. Sutherland (Eds.), Microsimulation Models for Public Policy Analysis: New Frontiers, STICERD, Occasional Paper 17, LSE.



- Gomulka, J., 1994. "Grossing Up: A Note on Calculating Household Weights from Family Composition Totals." University of Cambridge, Department of Economics, Microsimulation Unit Research Note MU/RN/4, March 1994.
- Goodman, R. (1997). The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire: A Research Note. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 38, 581-586.
- Gopinath B., Hardy LL., Baur LA., Burlutsky G., Mitchell P. (2012). Physical activity and sedentary behaviors and health-related quality of life in adolescents. *Pediatrics*, 130 (1), e167-74.
- Green CS, Bavelier D. (2003) Action video game modifies visual selective attention. *Nature*, 423(6939): 534–537.
- Green CS, Bavelier D. (2007) Action-video-game experience alters the spatial resolution of vision. *Psychological Science*, 8(1):88–94.
- Greene, S., Williams, J., Layte, R., Doyle, E., Harris, E., McCrory, C., Murray, A., O'Dowd, T., Quail, A., Swords, L., Thornton, M. & Whelan, C. (2010). Growing Up in Ireland: Background and Conceptual Framework. Dublin: Office of the Minister for Children and Youth Affairs.
- Gresham, FM. & Elliott, SN. (2008). Social Skills Improvement System: Rating Scales Manual. Minneapolis, MN: NCS Pearson, Inc.
- Growing Up in Ireland Study Team. (2009). Key Findings: Child Cohort at 9 years The education of 9-year-olds. Dublin: Economic and Social Research Institute.
- Growing Up in Ireland Study Team. (2011). Key Findings: Infant Cohort at 3 years Family Life and Childcare for 3year-olds. Dublin: Economic and Social Research Institute.
- Growing Up in Ireland Study Team. (2013a) Key Findings: Infant Cohort at 5 years Transition to school among fiveyear-olds. Dublin: Economic and Social Research Institute.
- Growing Up in Ireland Study Team. (2013b) Key Findings: Infant Cohort at 5 years Well-being, play & diet among five-year-olds. Dublin: Economic and Social Research Institute.
- Growing Up in Ireland Study Team. (2013c) Key Findings: Infant Cohort at 5 years The family circumstances of fiveyear-olds. Dublin: Economic and Social Research Institute.
- Growing Up in Ireland Study Team. (2017a). *Key Findings: Infant Cohort at 7/8 years School and Learning*. Dublin: Economic and Social Research Institute.
- Growing Up in Ireland Study Team. (2017b). *Key Findings: Infant Cohort at 7/8 years Health and development at 7/8 years.* Dublin: Economic and Social Research Institute.
- Growing Up in Ireland Study Team. (2017c). *Key Findings: Infant Cohort at 7/8 years Socio-emotional development, relationships and play*. Dublin: Economic and Social Research Institute.
- Hadfield, K., Amos, M., Ungar, M., Gosselin, J. and Ganong, L. (2018) Do Changes to Family Structure Affect Child and Family Outcomes? A Systematic Review of the Instability Hypothesis. *Journal of Family Theory and Review*, 10 (1):87-110. https://doi.org/10.1111/jftr.12243
- Hale L. & Guan S. (2015). Screen time and sleep among school-aged children and adolescents: a systematic literature review. *Sleep Med Rev*; 21:50-8.
- Hannan, C. and Halpin, B. (2014). The Influence of Family Structure on Child Outcomes: Evidence for Ireland. *The Economic and Social Review*, 45(1).

- •••
- Hillman, C.H., Pontifex, M.B., Castelli, D.M, Khan N.A., Raine L.B., Scudder M.R., Drollette E.S., Moore R.D., Wu C.T.
   & Kamijo K. (2014). Effects of the FITKids randomized controlled trial on executive control and brain function. *Pediatrics, 134*, e1063.
- Hoge, E., Bickman, D. & Cantor, J. (2017). Digital media, anxiety, and depression in children, *Pediatrics*, 140 (2), S76-80.
- Hokkanen, H., Eriksson, E., Ahonen, O. & Salantera, S. (2004) Adolescents with cancer: experience of life and how it could be made easier. *Cancer Nursing*, 27, 325–335
- Jacka FN., Pasco JA., Mykletun A., Williams LJ., Hodge AM., O'Reilly SL., Nicholson GC., Kotowicz MA. & Berk M. (2010). Association between western and traditional diets and depression and anxiety in women. *Am J Psychiatry*, 167:305–311
- Jacka, FN., Rothon, C., Berk, M. & Stansfeld, SA. (2013). Diet quality and mental health problems in adolescents from East London: a prospective study. *Social Psychiatry & Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 48 (8), 1297-1306.
- Jackson-Leach R. & Lobstein T. (2006) Estimated burden of paediatric obesity and co-morbidities in Europe. Part 1. The increase in the prevalence of child obesity in Europe is itself increasing. *Int J Pediatr Obes*, 1(1):26–32.
- Johnson, G. M., & Puplampu, P. (2008). A conceptual framework for understanding the effect of the Internet on child development: The ecological techno-subsystem. *Canadian Journal of Learning and Technology*, 34, 19-28
- Keane E., Kearney PM., Perry IJ., Kelleher CC. & Harrington JM. (2014). Trends and prevalence of overweight and obesity in primary school aged children in the Republic of Ireland from 2002-2012: a systematic review. BMC Public Health. 14, 14:974.
- Khalid S., Williams CM. & Reynolds SA. (2017). Is there an association between diet and depression in children and adolescents? A systematic review. *Br J Nutr*, 116(12), 2097-2108.
- Kipping RR., Jago R. & Lawlor DA. (2008). Obesity in children. Part 2: prevention and management. BMJ, 337: a1848.
- Kuczmarski RJ., Ogden CL., Guo SS., et al. (2002). 2000 CDC growth charts for the United States: Methods and development. National Center for Health Statistics. Vital Health Stat 11(246). Available at: <a href="https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/series/sr 11/sr11">https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/series/sr 11/sr11</a> 246.pdf
- Lafferty, Z. (2012) Family Structure and Risk Factors: an Investigation into Emotional and Behavioural Outcomes for Nine-Year-Olds. Submitted for MA dissertation, Dublin: Dublin Institute of Technology.
- Layte R. & McCrory C. (2011). Overweight and obesity among 9-year-olds: Growing Up in Ireland. Dublin, Economic and Social Research Institute.
- Layte R. & McCrory C. (2013). Paediatric chronic illness and educational failure: the role of emotional and behavioural problems. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol*, 48(8):1307-16.
- Le Port A, Gueguen A, Kesse-Guyot E, Melchior, M., Lemogne, C., Nabi, H., Goldberg, M., Zins, M. & Czernichow, S. (2012). Association between dietary patterns and depressive symptoms over time: a 10-year follow-up study of the GAZEL cohort. *PLoS One*. 7(12) e51593.
- LeBlanc AG., Katzmarzyk PT., Barreira TV., Broyles ST., Chaput JP., Church TS., Fogelholm M., Harrington DM., Hu G., Kuriyan R., Kurpad A., Lambert EV., Maher C., Maia J., Matsudo V., Olds T., Onywera V., Sarmiento OL., Standage M., Tudor-Locke C., Zhao P., Tremblay MS.; ISCOLE Research Group. (2015). Correlates of Total Sedentary Time and Screen Time in 9-11 Year-Old Children around the World: The International Study of Childhood Obesity, Lifestyle and the Environment. *PLoS One*, 11: 10 (6).



- Lobstein T. & Jackson-Leach R. (2006). Estimated burden of paediatric obesity and co-morbidities in Europe. Part 2. Numbers of children with indicators of obesity-related disease. *Int J Pediatr Obes*, 1(1):33-41.
- Lum A., Wakefield CE., Donnan B., Burns MA., Fardell JE. & Marshall GM. (2017). Understanding the school experiences of children and adolescents with serious chronic illness: a systematic meta-review. *Child Care Health Dev*, 43(5), 645-662.
- MacDonald KB. (1993). Parent-Child Play: Descriptions and Implications. Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.
- McGinnity, F., Russell, F. and Murray, A. (2015). Non-parental childcare and child cognitive outcomes at age 5: Results from the Growing Up in Ireland Cohort. Dublin: Economic and Social Research Institute.
- McLeod, JD., & Kaiser, K. (2004). Childhood emotional and behavioral problems and educational attainment. *American Sociological Review*, 69, 636–658.
- Milton, B., Whitehead, M., Holland, P. & Hamilton, V. (2004). The social and economic consequences of childhood asthma across the lifecourse: a systematic review. *Child: Care, Health and Development*, 30, 711–728.
- Mitchell JA., Rodriguez D., Schmitz KH. & Audrain-McGovern J. (2013). Greater screen time is associated with adolescent obesity: a longitudinal study of the BMI distribution from Ages 14 to 18. *Obesity*, 21(3):572-5.
- Mitchell, W., Clarke, S. & Sloper, P. (2006). Care and support needs of children and young people with cancer and their parents. *Psycho-Oncology*, 15, 805–816.
- Murray, A., McNamara, E., Williams, J. and Smyth, E. (2019) Growing Up in Ireland: The Lives of 5-Year-Olds. Dublin: The Department of Children and Youth Affairs/The Stationery Office.
- NCD Risk Factor Collaboration. (2017). Worldwide trends in body-mass index, underweight, overweight, and obesity from 1975 to 2016: a pooled analysis of 2416 population-based measurement studies in 128.9 million children, adolescents, and adults. *Lancet*, 390 (10113), 2627-2642.
- Nixon, E. & Swords, L. (2016). Is family structure a source of inequality in children's lives? In *Cherishing All the Children Equally? Ireland 100 years on* Social Research Institute.
- Nixon, E. (2012). Growing Up in Ireland: How families matter for social and emotional outcomes of 9-year-old children. Dublin: Trinity College Dublin.
- Nolan, A. & Layte, R. (2014). Socio-economic Inequalities in child health in Ireland. *The Economic and Social Review*, 45 (1), 25–64.
- O'Neill, A. Quirke, SE., Housden, S., Brennan, SL., Williams, LJ. Pasco, JA. Berk, M. & Jacka, FN. (2014). Relationship between Diet and Mental Health in Children and Adolescents: A Systematic Review. *Am J Pub Health*, 104(10):e31-e42.
- Ohlsson, C., Lorentzon, M., Norjavaara, E. & Kindblom, JM. (2012). Age at adiposity rebound is associated with fat mass in young adult males the GOOD study. PLoS One, 7(11), e49404.
- Pantic I, Damjanovic A, Todorovic J, Topalovic D, Bojovic-Jovic D, Ristic S, Pantic S. (2012). Association between online social networking and depression in high school students: behavioral physiology viewpoint. *Psychiatr Danub.* 24(1):90-3.
- Park, H. & Lau, AS. (2015). Socioeconomic status and parenting priorities: Child independence and obedience around the world. *J Marriage Family*, 78(1), 43-59.



Pate R.R., O'Neill JR. & Lobelo F. (2008). The evolving definition of "sedentary". Exerc Sport Sci Rev, 36 (4), 173-8.

- Pearson N, Biddle SJ. (2011), Sedentary behavior and dietary intake in children, adolescents, and adults. A systematic review. *Am J Prev Med*, 41(2), 178-88.
- Pianta, R.C. (1992). Child-parent Relationship Scale. Unpublished measure, University of Virginia.
- Plowman, L. (2016) Rethinking context: Digital technologies and children's everyday lives, *Children's Geographies*, 14:2, 190-202, DOI: 10.1080/14733285.2015.1127326
- Psaltopoulou T., Sergentanis TN., Panagiotakos DB., Sergentanis IN., Kosti R. & Scarmeas N. (2013). Mediterranean diet, stroke, cognitive impairment, and depression: a meta-analysis. *Ann Neurol*, 74(4):580–591.
- Quigley, J. & Nixon, E. (2016). Parental Investment & Child Development. In *Cherishing All the Children Equally? Ireland 100 years on from the Easter Rising* (pp. 58-79). Dublin: Economic and Social Research Institute.
- Rolland-Cachera MF, Semple M, Guillard-Bataille M. (1984). Adiposity rebound in children: a simple indicator for predicting obesity. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 39: 129-135.
- Russell, H., Kenny, O. & McGinnity, F. (2016) Childcare, Early Education and Socio-Emotional Outcomes at Age 5: Evidence from the Growing Up in Ireland study; Dublin, Economic and Social Research Institute.
- Russell, H., McGinnity F., Callan T. & Keane C. (2009). A Women's Place: Female Participation in the Irish Labour Market; Dublin, Economic and Social Research Institute.
- Sameroff, A. (2006). Identifying risk and protective factors for healthy child development. In A. Clarke-Stewart & J. Dunn (Eds.) *Families count. Effects on child and adolescent development.* (pp. 53-76) New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Saunders TJ. & Vallance JK. (2017) Screen Time and Health Indicators Among Children and Youth: Current Evidence, Limitations and Future Directions. *Appl Health Econ Health Policy*, 15 (3), 323-331.
- Shah, R., Hagell, A. & Cheung, R. (2019). *International comparisons of health and wellbeing in adolescence and early adulthood.* Research Report, Nuffield Trust and Association for Young People's Health.
- Smyth, E. (2017). Off to a Good Start? Primary school experiences and the transition to second-level education: Growing Up in Ireland. Dublin, Economic and Social Research Institute.
- Smyth, E. (2018). The transition to primary education: insights from the Growing Up in Ireland Studyet al.. Dublin, Economic and Social Research Institute.
- Suchert, V., Hanewinkel R. & Isensee, B. (2015). Sedentary behavior and indicators of mental health in school-aged children and adolescents: A systematic review. *Prev Med*, 76, 48-57.
- Taras, H. & Potts-Datema, W. (2005) Childhood asthma and student performance at school. J School Health, 75, 296–312.
- Teng, YPT., Kuo, LTW. & Zhou, Q. (2018). Maternal Employment and Family Socioeconomic Status: Unique Relations to Maternal Stress, Parenting Beliefs, and Preschoolers' Adjustment in Taiwanese Families. J Child Fam Stud, 27(11), 3506-3519.
- Thornton, M., Williams, J., McCrory, C., Murray, A. and Quail, A., (2013), Growing Up in Ireland: Design, instrumentation and procedures for the Infant Cohort at wave one (9 months). Dublin: Department of Children and Youth Affairs
- United Nations. (1989). The United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child, available at: <u>http://www.ohchr.org/EN/ProfessionalInterest/Pages/CRC.aspx</u>

- Waldfogel, J., Craigie, TA. & Brooks-Gunn, J. (2010). Fragile Families and Child Wellbeing. *Future Child*, 20(2): 87–112.
- Wang Y. & Lobstein T. (2006). Worldwide trends in childhood overweight and obesity. *Int J Pediatr Obes*, 1(1), 11–25.
- Watson, Dorothy, Maître, Bertrand and Whelan, Christopher T. (2012) *Understanding Childhood Deprivation in Ireland*. Dublin: Economic and Social Research Institute and Social Inclusion Division, Department of Social Protection.
- Watson, Dorothy; Maître, Bertrand; Whelan, Christopher and Williams, James (2014) *Dynamics of Child Economic Vulnerability and Socio-Emotional Development: An Analysis of the First Two Waves of the Growing Up in Ireland study*. Dublin: Department of Children and Youth Affairs.
- Wilmer, HH, Sherman, LE and Chein, JM (2017) Smartphones and Cognition: A Review of Research Exploring the Links between Mobile Technology Habits and Cognitive Functioning. Frontiers of Psychology, 8 (605). doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00605
- World Health Organization and Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations Joint Expert Consultation. (2003). Diet, nutrition and the prevention of chronic diseases. World Health Organ Tech Rep Ser 916, no. i-viii.
- Wright CM., Emmett PM., Ness AR., Reilly JJ. & Sherriff A. (2010). Tracking of obesity and body fatness through midchildhood. Arch Dis Child, 95(8), 8.
- Yogman, M., Garner, A., Hutchinson, J., Hirsh-Pasek, K., Golinkoff, R. M., Committee on Psychosocial Aspects of Child and Family Health, & Council on Communications and Media. (2018). The power of play: A pediatric role in enhancing development in young children. *Pediatrics*, 142(3), 1-17.



If you would like further information about *Growing Up in Ireland,* please visit

www.growingup.ie

e-mail growingup@esri.ie

or freephone 1800 200 434





**An Roinn Leanaí agus Gnóthaí Óige** Department of Children and Youth Affairs

